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APPENDIX – ALPHABETICAL INDEX  

 

No.  Date Description Vol.# Page Nos 

5 8/11/2017 Answer and Counterclaim I 

JA000040-

JA000060 

6 8/31/2017 Answer to Sharda’s Counterclaim I 

JA000060-

JA000067 

7 9/5/2017 Answer to Amended Complaint I 

JA000068-

JA000088 

43 8/11/2017 Answer to Complaint and Counterclaim XI 

JA002211-

JA002219 

8 12/13/2017 Answer to Counterclaim I 

JA000089-

JA000098 

41 6/3/2021 Amended Certificate of Service  XI 

JA002191-

JA002205 

mailto:office@danielmarks.net
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25 12/14/2020 

Amended Notice of Entry of Findings of 

Fact and Conclusions of Law for 

November 19, 2020 Order Dismissing 

Plaintiffs’ Matter with Prejudice VI 

JA001172-

JA001190 

4 8/11/2017 Amended Verified Complaint I 

JA000023-

JA000039 

10 7/29/2020 

Appendices for Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint with 

Prejudice and Related Relief  

(Volume I of VIII) I 

JA000134-

JA000238 

11 7/29/2020 

Appendices for Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint with 

Prejudice and Related Relief  

(Volume II of VIII) 

 

 

 

 

II 

JA000239-

JA000303 

12 7/29/2020 

Appendices for Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint with 

Prejudice and Related Relief  

(Volume III of VIII) 

 

 

 

II 

JA000304-

JA000415 

13 7/29/2020 

Appendices for Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint with 

Prejudice and Related Relief  

(Volume IV of VIII) III 

JA000416-

JA000530 

14 7/29/2020 

Appendices for Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint with 

Prejudice and Related Relief  

(Volume V of VIII) III 

JA000531-

JA000642 

15 7/29/2020 

Appendices for Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint with 

Prejudice and Related Relief  

(Volume VI of VIII) IV 

JA000643-

JA000747 

16 7/29/2020 

Appendices for Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint with 

Prejudice and Related Relief  

(Volume VII of VIII) IV 

JA000748-

JA000845 
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17 7/29/2020 

Appendices for Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint with 

Prejudice and Related Relief  

(Volume VIII of VIII) IV 

JA000846-

JA000875 

29 1/11/2021 

Appendices to Opposition to Motion for 

Clarification (Vol. I of VIII) VII 

JA001331-

JA001436 

30 1/11/2021 

Appendices to Opposition to Motion for 

Clarification (Vol. II of VIII) VII 

JA001437-

JA001502 

31 1/11/2021 

Appendices to Opposition to Motion for 

Clarification (Vol. III of VIII) VIII 

JA001503-

JA001615 

32 1/11/2021 

Appendices to Opposition to Motion for 

Clarification (Vol. IV of VIII) VIII 

JA001616-

JA001731 

33 1/11/2021 

Appendices to Opposition to Motion for 

Clarification (Vol. V of VIII) IX 

JA001732-

JA001844 

34 1/11/2021 

Appendices to Opposition to Motion for 

Clarification (Vol. VI of VIII) IX 

JA001845-

JA001950 

35 1/11/2021 

Appendices to Opposition to Motion for 

Clarification (Vol. VII of VIII) X 

JA001951-

JA002049 

36 1/11/2021 

Appendices to Opposition to Motion for 

Clarification (Vol. VIII of VIII) X 

JA002050-

JA002131 

19 9/3/2020 

Appendix of Exhibits to Plaintiff’s 

Opposition to Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss V 

JA000904-

JA001083 

1 6/1/2017 Complaint I 

JA000001-

JA000016 

21 10/14/2020 Confession of Judgment (Shafik Brown) V 

JA001104-

JA001119 
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22 10/14/2020 Confession of Judgment (Shafik Hirji) VI 

JA001120-

JA001135 

23 10/14/2020 

Confession of Judgment (Shafik Brown 

and Shafik Hirji) VI 

JA001136-

JA001155 

26 12/28/2020 

Counterclaimants’ Motion for 

Clarification, and/or in the alternative, 

Motion for Relief, Reconsideration, 

and/or to Alter or Amend Judgment VI 

JA001191-

JA001296 

9 7/29/2020 

Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss with 

Prejudice and for Related Relief I 

JA000099-

JA000133 

20 10/13/2020 

Defendants’ Reply to Motion to Dismiss 

with Prejudice and for Related Relief V 

JA001084-

JA001103 

37 1/13/2021 

Defendants’ Opposition to Limited 

Joinder and Countermotion to Strike X 

JA002132-

JA002146 

28 1/11/2021 

Defendants’ Opposition to Motion for 

Clarification  VI 

JA001300-

JA001330 

24 12/14/2020 

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law for November 19, 2020 Order 

Dismissing Plaintiffs’ Matter with 

Prejudice VI 

JA001156-

JA001171 

27 1/7/2021 

Limited Joinder to Motion for 

Clarification VI 

JA001297-

JA001299 

38 1/13/2021 Notice of Appeal X 

JA002147-

JA002169 

42 6/23/2021 Notice of Appeal XI 

JA002206-

JA002210 

40 5/25/2021 Notice of Entry of April 6, 2021 Order X 

JA002179-

JA002190 
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39 5/25/2021 Order from April 6, 2021 Hearing X 

JA002170-

JA002178 

18 9/2/2020 

Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Defendants’ 

Motion to Dismiss V 

JA000876-

JA000903 

2 6/12/2017 Proof of Service – Shafik Brown I 

JA000017-

JA000019 

3 6/12/2017 Proof of Service – Shafik Hirji I 

JA000020-

JA000022 
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No.  Date Description Vol.# Page Nos 

1 6/1/2017 Complaint I 

JA000001-

JA000016 

2 6/12/2017 Proof of Service – Shafik Brown I 

JA000017-

JA000019 

3 6/12/2017 Proof of Service – Shafik Hirji I 

JA000020-

JA000022 

4 8/11/2017 Amended Verified Complaint I 

JA000023-

JA000039 

5 8/11/2017 Answer and Counterclaim I 

JA000040-

JA000060 
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6 8/31/2017 Answer to Sharda’s Counterclaim I 

JA000060-

JA000067 

7 9/5/2017 Hirji Answer to Amended Complaint I 

JA000068-

JA000088 

8 12/13/2017 Barket’s Answer to Hirgi Counterclaim I 

JA000089-

JA000098 

9 7/29/2020 

Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss with 

Prejudice and for Related Relief I 

JA000099-

JA000133 

10 7/29/2020 

Appendices for Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint with 

Prejudice and Related Relief  

(Volume I of VIII) I 

JA000134-

JA000238 

11 7/29/2020 

Appendices for Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint with 

Prejudice and Related Relief  

(Volume II of VIII) 

 

 

 

 

II 

JA000239-

JA000303 

12 7/29/2020 

Appendices for Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint with 

Prejudice and Related Relief  

(Volume III of VIII) 

 

 

 

II 

JA000304-

JA000415 

13 7/29/2020 

Appendices for Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint with 

Prejudice and Related Relief  

(Volume IV of VIII) III 

JA000416-

JA000530 

14 7/29/2020 

Appendices for Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint with 

Prejudice and Related Relief  

(Volume V of VIII) III 

JA000531-

JA000642 

15 7/29/2020 

Appendices for Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint with 

Prejudice and Related Relief  

(Volume VI of VIII) IV 

JA000643-

JA000747 
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16 7/29/2020 

Appendices for Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint with 

Prejudice and Related Relief  

(Volume VII of VIII) IV 

JA000748-

JA000845 

17 7/29/2020 

Appendices for Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint with 

Prejudice and Related Relief  

(Volume VIII of VIII) IV 

JA000846-

JA000875 

18 9/2/2020 

Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Defendants’ 

Motion to Dismiss V 

JA000876-

JA000903 

19 9/3/2020 

Appendix of Exhibits to Plaintiff’s 

Opposition to Defendants’ Motion to 

Dismiss V 

JA000904-

JA001083 

20 10/13/2020 

Defendants’ Reply to Motion to Dismiss 

with Prejudice and for Related Relief V 

JA001084-

JA001103 

21 10/14/2020 Confession of Judgment (Shafik Brown) V 

JA001104-

JA001119 

22 10/14/2020 Confession of Judgment (Shafik Hirji) VI 

JA001120-

JA001135 

23 10/14/2020 

Confession of Judgment (Shafik Brown 

and Shafik Hirji) VI 

JA001136-

JA001155 

24 12/14/2020 

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of 

Law for November 19, 2020 Order 

Dismissing Plaintiffs’ Matter with 

Prejudice VI 

JA001156-

JA001171 

25 12/14/2020 

Amended Notice of Entry of Findings of 

Fact and Conclusions of Law for 

November 19, 2020 Order Dismissing 

Plaintiffs’ Matter with Prejudice VI 

JA001172-

JA001190 

26 12/28/2020 

Counterclaimants’ Motion for 

Clarification, and/or in the alternative, 

Motion for Relief, Reconsideration, VI 

JA001191-

JA001296 
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and/or to Alter or Amend Judgment 

27 1/7/2021 

Limited Joinder to Motion for 

Clarification VI 

JA001297-

JA001299 

28 1/11/2021 

Defendants’ Opposition to Motion for 

Clarification  VI 

JA001300-

JA001330 

29 1/11/2021 

Appendices to Opposition to Motion for 

Clarification (Vol. I of VIII) VII 

JA001331-

JA001436 

30 1/11/2021 

Appendices to Opposition to Motion for 

Clarification (Vol. II of VIII) VII 

JA001437-

JA001502 

31 1/11/2021 

Appendices to Opposition to Motion for 

Clarification (Vol. III of VIII) VIII 

JA001503-

JA001615 

32 1/11/2021 

Appendices to Opposition to Motion for 

Clarification (Vol. IV of VIII) VIII 

JA001616-

JA001731 

33 1/11/2021 

Appendices to Opposition to Motion for 

Clarification (Vol. V of VIII) IX 

JA001732-

JA001844 

34 1/11/2021 

Appendices to Opposition to Motion for 

Clarification (Vol. VI of VIII) IX 

JA001845-

JA001950 

35 1/11/2021 

Appendices to Opposition to Motion for 

Clarification (Vol. VII of VIII) X 

JA001951-

JA002049 

36 1/11/2021 

Appendices to Opposition to Motion for 

Clarification (Vol. VIII of VIII) X 

JA002050-

JA002131 

37 1/13/2021 

Defendants’ Opposition to Limited 

Joinder and Countermotion to Strike X 

JA002132-

JA002146 
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38 1/13/2021 Notice of Appeal X 

JA002147-

JA002169 

39 5/25/2021 Order from April 6, 2021 Hearing X 

JA002170-

JA002178 

40 5/25/2021 Notice of Entry of April 6, 2021 Order X 

JA002179-

JA002190 

41 6/3/2021 Amended Certificate of Service  XI 

JA002191-

JA002205 

42 6/23/2021 Notice of Appeal XI 

JA002206-

JA002210 

43 8/11/2017 Answer to Complaint and Counterclaim XI 

JA002211-

JA002219 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I certify that on the _30th___ day of July, 2021, I electronically filed the foregoing 

JOINT APPENDIX with the Clerk of Court for the Supreme Court of Nevada by 

using the Supreme Court of Nevada’s E-filing system. 

 I further certify that on the above reference date service was made to the following 

parties by the methods therein indicated. 

Michael R. Mushkin, Esq. 

Nevada Bar No. 2421 

MUSHKIN & COPPEDGE 

6070 Eastern Avenue, Suite 270 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 

Telephone:  (702) 454-333 

michael@mccnvlaw.com 

Attorneys for Respondents 

STEVEN BARKET and G65 VENTURES, LLC   

 

Daniel Marks, Esq. 

Nevada Bar No. 2003 

LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL MARKS 

610 South Ninth Street 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 

Telephone: (702) 386-0536 

office@danielmarks.net 

Attorneys for SHAFIK HIRJI, SHAFIK BROWN  

and FURNITURE BOUTIQUE 

         

                       

__/s/ Andrew M. David______________________________________ 

An Employee of the  

CORY READE DOWS & SHAFER 

mailto:michael@mccnvlaw.com
mailto:office@danielmarks.net


DOCUMENT “18” 

 

 

 

 

DOCUMENT “18” 
JA000876



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

 

Page 1 of 27 

T
H

E
 B

A
R

N
A

B
I 

L
A

W
 F

IR
M

, P
L

L
C

 
3

7
5

 E
. W

ar
m

 S
p

ri
ng

s 
R

o
ad

, S
u

it
e 

1
04

 

L
as

 V
eg

as
, N

ev
ad

a 
8

91
1

9 

(7
0

2
) 

4
75

-8
90

3
 F

A
X

: (
70

2)
 9

6
6-

37
1

8 

 
0001 
THE BARNABI LAW FIRM, PLLC 
CHARLES (“CJ”) E. BARNABI JR., ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 14477 
375 E. Warm Springs Road, Ste. 104 
Las Vegas, NV 89119 
Email: cj@barnabilaw.com  
Telephone: (702) 475-8903 
Facsimile: (702) 966-3718 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs and Michael Ahders 
    

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

STEVEN BARKET, an individual; and G65 

VENTURES, LLC., a Nevada Limited 

Liability Company, 

 

Plaintiffs, 

vs. 

 

SHAFIK HIRJI, an individual; SHAFIK 

BROWN, an individual; and NAVNEET 

SHARDA, an individual; FURNITURE 

BOUTIQUE, LLC., A Nevada Limited 

Liability Company, and DOES 1-X, inclusive 

and ROE CORPORATIONS XI through XX, 

 

Defendants. 

______________________________________ 

 

AND ALL RELATED AND 

CONSOLIDATED MATTERS 

             

Case No.:  A-17-756274-C  
Dept. No.:  XVIII 
 
 
 
Consolidated With: 
 
Case No.: A-18-770121-C 
 
Hearing Date: 10/20/2020 
Hearing Time: 9 a.m. 
 
 
 
 

 

 
PLAINTIFFS’ OPPOSITION TO DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS THE 

PLAINTIFFS COMPLAINT WITH PREJUDICE PURSUANT TO NRCP 41(E)(6), 
AND/OR FOR ABUSE OF PROCESS; TO DEEM PLAINTIFF, STEVEN BARKET, A 

VEXATIOUS LITIGANT; ISSUE A PERMANENT INJUNCTION TO ISSUE TO 
REQUIRE PLAINTIFF BARKET TO REMOVE ALL WEBSITES REGARDING THE 
DEFENDANTS, AND OTHERS, AND ENJOIN BARKET FROM POSTING ANY NEW 
WEBSITES AGAINST SUCH PERSONS; AND AWARD DEFENDANTS ATTORNEY S 

FEES AND COSTS 
 

Case Number: A-17-756274-C

Electronically Filed
9/2/2020 11:57 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

JA000877

mailto:cj@barnabilaw.com
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COMES NOW Plaintiffs and Michael Ahders, by and through their counsel of record, CJ 

Barnabi, Esq. of The Barnabi Law Firm, PLLC, and hereby files this Opposition to Motion to 

Plaintiff’s Complaint With Prejudice and other related relief.  Much like the other filings and 

explanations of by Shafik Hirji and Shafik Brown, the “Shafiks” make this case much less about 

their owing and borrowing millions of dollars and their failure to repay – but attempt to play the 

part as victims.  It is hard to fathom that Shafik Hirji and Shafik Brown could attempt to 

successful perpetuate actual victims, having been collectively parties to nearly 20 eviction 

proceedings, approximately 15 lawsuits (mostly against them for monies owed, injunctions to 

stop public harm, confession of judgments, etc.), filed numerous bankruptcy cases, Shafik Hirji 

being indicted for bankruptcy fraud, etc.  If Defendants are seeking to have Mr. Barket identified  

as a “vexatious litigant”, with Mr. Hirji’s onerous adverse litigation and criminal history, the 

Court should adopt the French method of justice.  That is, Mr. Hirji should be considered 

“guilty” until proven innocent.    

Even now, Defendants claim without any evidence that they have repaid the sums due to 

Plaintiffs and Michael Ahders.  Though their factual statement is over ten pages long, 

Defendants, ironically claim that there has not been any effort to pursue this case.1  The claims 

and argument are profoundly misplaced.  First, the Law Office of Daniel Marks is not a party to 

the litigation, yet on its own behalf it seeks to insert itself into the case by demanding the 

removal of www.danielmarksexamined.com.2  That request fails on standing alone.  Second, 

 
1 Even if the current COVID-19 Pandemic were not a concern, or the health of current counsel, the 
attempts to enforce the Confession of Judgment, Promissory Notes, Writs of Execution, attempts to 
resolve the issues surrounding the Settlement Agreement with Navneet Sharda, settlement discussions, 
multiple NRCP 16.1 disclosures amounting to thousands of pages of disclosures, etc.; would be sufficient 
basis to deny a dismissal for claimed lack of effort pursuant to NRCP 41.  Hirji has actually done far less 
then this, but even so, NRCP 41 would not be a basis to dismiss his Counterclaim. 

2 As a show of “good faith” this website has been removed from public circulation while the parties 
attempted to resolve their issues without further Court intervention. 

JA000878

http://www.danielmarksexamined.com/
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www.shafikhirji.com contains information which is readily and publicly available.  As noted 

herein Shafik Hirji has been recently sued by Las Vegas Review Journal, is subject to multiple 

judgments, has a permanent injunction to not manage companies that repair automobiles, was 

indicted for bankruptcy fraud, etc.  Not only is the information true, Defendants cannot prove 

that they can win their case, or that Plaintiffs and Mr. Ahders are so factually inept, that they 

have a remote possibility of prevailing on their claims.  Defendants are, and has their litigation 

history has shown, con artist.  Defendants’ own history in this case likewise details that they 

have an adequate remedy at law, because they have filed their Counterclaim.         

In sum there is no basis in fact, law or equity, that would allow the type of relief being 

sought by Defendants; with which as much litigation they have involved themselves in, they 

should be reasonably aware.  For these reasons, the reasons herein, the many other in prior 

filings and all the related exhibits, the current Declarations of Steven Barket, Michael Ahders 

and their counsel, the Motion to Dismiss and all its related relief should be denied. 

This Opposition is based upon the points and authorities attached hereto all the pleadings 

submitted to date in this action, the Declaration of Michael Ahders and any oral argument which 

is allowed at the time of hearing of this motion. 

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

A. Shafik Hirji, Shafik Brown and Boulevard Furniture, Inc. Execute a Confession of 
Judgment in Favor of Michael Ahders for $100,000 With Agreed Upon Penalties 
and Interest. 

 

 1. On November 21, 2016, Shafik Hirji, Shafik Brown and Boulevard Furniture, Inc. 

(the “Judgment Debtors”) executed a Confession of Judgment, Security Agreement and in favor 

JA000879
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of Michael Ahders (the “Ahders loan”).3  Exhibit 14; Declaration of Michael Ahders (“Ahders 

Declaration”), ¶2. 

 2. The Judgment Debtors made 11 payments of $4,000 toward the Ahders loan from 

January 2017 to November 2017.  Ahders Declaration, ¶3. 

 3. On November 25, 2019, counsel for Ahders provided to the counsel for Judgment 

Debtors, correspondence entitled “NOTICE OF DEFAULT AND DEMAND TO 

IMMEDIATELY CURE.”  Exhibit 2, Declaration of Charles (“CJ”) E. Barnabi Jr., Esq. 

(“Barnabi Declaration”), ¶3. 

 4. As the November 25, 2019 correspondence confirmed, only 11 payments of 

$4,000 had been made by the Judgment Debtors, and that they had until December 4, 2019 to 

satisfy the $176,000 balance.  Exhibit 2, p. 1, footnote 2; Barnabi Declaration, ¶4. 

 5. On December 4, 2019 counsel for Judgment Creditor, Michael Ahders discussed 

this matter with Teletha Zupan, Esq., counsel for Judgement Debtors.  Ms. Zupan affirmed that 

her firm was representing the Judgment Debtors, and that they had received the notice of default 

and demand to cure correspondence previously sent on November 25, 2019. Ms. Zupan also 

affirmed that the Judgment Debtors would not be able to satisfy their obligation as described in 

the notice.  Barnabi Declaration, ¶5. 

 6. To date the Judgment Debtors have not made any payments following December 

4, 2019, or since November 2017, and the total amount paid remains $48,000.  Barnabi 

Declaration, ¶6. 

 
3 The check provided to Judgment Debtors is attached to Exhibit 1 and identified as 
PLTF001997. 

4 Exhibits will be filed under a separate appendix and are incorporated herein. 

JA000880
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B. Shafik Brown, Shafik Hirji and Steven Barket Execute the Memorandum of 

Understanding and Agreement dated January 20, 2017 Which Affirms That Barket 
Would Receive $210,000 In Addition to Interests in Multiple Businesses.  

 
 7. On January 20, 2017 Shafik Brown, Shafik Hirji and Steven Barket, executed the 

Memorandum of Understanding (the “Memorandum”).  Exhibit 3, PLTF00166-168; Barnabi 

Declaration, ¶7. 

 8. The Memorandum expressly stated that these parties would own a new entity, 

Sunset Furniture, Inc. referred to as “FF4”, that he would own a 15% in “FF1”, “FF2” and 

“FF3”, receive 25% of Olivia Mexican restaurant and receive $150,000 to $210,000:     

 The formation of this company will be known as Sunset Furniture Inc. 
 

The company will be set up as follows: 
• 47 1/2 percent, Shafik Hirji / Shafik Brown 
• 47 1/ 2 percent controlled by a trust, whose trustee is Steven Barket 
• 5 percent controlled by a trust        
  
In exchange for the $1 million investment, which constitutes all financing 
necessary for the opening of FF4, Steven Barket is additionally entitled to 15 
percent ownership of each of FF1, FF2 and FF3, or at the time of funding 
$150,000 will be paid to Barket and all ownership of FF1, FF2 and FF3 will 
remain in the ownership and control of Hirji and Brown. 
 
Hirji and Brown provide the experience and retail knowledge for the operation of 
FF4 in exchange for their 47 ½ percent ownership compensation; Barket provides 
the necessary funding/lending for his 47 ½ percent ownership. 
 
Additionally, in return for the previous money raised, Hirji and Brown will 
convey 50 percent of Olivia's Mexican Restaurant to Barket (25 percent) and 
potential investor, Dr. Navneet Sharda (25 percent). 
 
As additional consideration, Barket will be paid $60,000, which represents work 
and expenses of from Nov 2016 to the opening of FF4 by April 2017. 
 
Hirji and Brown will continue to reimburse all out of pocket expenses for travel, 

work, time and entertainment as they relate to store projects -- including a fifth 
potential Furniture Fashions location on Craig Road in North Las Vegas. 

Hirji and Brown also agree that the $210,000 paid to Barket will be reimbursed to 
FF4 by way of profits from Yasmin Brown DBA account (ventures) and FF4 
within 90 days of the opening of FF4. In addition the $210,000 paid to Barket can 
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be repaid from FF1, FF2, FF3, or a combination of the above. The consideration 
of repayment of the $210,000 could come from furniture, labor or other tangible 
assets to FF4. All consideration would clear and concise, via invoices or time 
sheets, etc. 

As proof of the ability to repay those funds, Hirji has provided bank statements 
from 
Bank of America as follows: 

 

• DBA Brown Enterprises 

  Yasmin Brown Sole Proprietor 

  7560 Jacaranda Bay St. 

  Las Vegas, NV 89139-5313 

• Account No. xxxx 3268 

According to the records provided by Hirji, annual gross revenue deposited was 
more than $8.5 million in 2016. 

The information provided in these account statements to Barket show the revenue 
flow as well as Hirji/Brown family living expenses, car expenses, insurance, 
home payments, etc. Hirji/Brown stated that they were able to use the profits from 
their other automotive service business entity for all personal and living 
expenses,… 

Exhibit 3, pp. 1-2. 
 
 9. Thus, under the Memorandum, Barket would receive up to $210,000 for bringing 

in financing, 47 ½ of Sunset Furniture, Inc. and a 25% interest in Olivia Restaurant.  Id. 

 10. To date, no demand for $1 million dollars of investment funds has been demanded 

by Shafik Hirji and Shafik Brown, after having acted in conformity with the Memorandum.  As 

the Memorandum states:   

Whereas Shafik Hrji and Shafik Brown requested $1 million to open and operate 
a fourth store, known as Furniture Fashions Store No. 4 (FF4)… 
 
In exchange for the $1 million investment, which constitutes all financing 
necessary for the opening of FF4, Steven Barket is additionally entitled to 15 
percent ownership of each of FF1, FF2 and FF3, or at the time of funding 
$150,000 will be paid to Barket… 
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 11. Admittedly, Shafik Brown and Shafik Hirji received the $1 million on the same 

day as the Memorandum.  “The fourth investment/loan was made from Barket’s partner, Sharda, 

through Trata for one million ($1,000,000) dollar “investment/loan on January 20, 2017.”  

Motion to Dismiss, p. 3:27-28.  The Memorandum and the “fourth loan” were all made in the 

presence of all the related parties at the law offices of Cohen Johnson, LLC.  

C. Shafik Hirji and His Counsel Blatantly and Falsely Claim That Ahders and Barket 
Receive $375,000-$423,000 and That Any Obligations Have Been Satisfied. 

 
 10. Purposefully attempting to lead this Court astray with a fantastic tail of mistruths, 

Hirji and his counsel have claimed that the checks that they provided as Exhibit “6” and Hirji’s 

March 2, 2018 Affidavit confirm that Barket received $423,000 and Ahders received $48,000, 

and that the, “underlying promissory note [for Ahders] was fully satisfied and there was no legal 

basis for filing the Confession of Judgment”5 (Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for 

Entry of Confession of Judgment and Countermotion for Sanctions Pursuant to EDCR 7.60, filed  

on February 12, 2020, p. 11:18-19): 

Between November 7, 2016 and March 4, 2017, Ahders' and Sharda's partner, 
Barket, demanded and received a total of approximately three hundred seventy 
five thousand ($375,000.00) dollars from Hirji.  Barket claimed he would return 
the money within a few weeks but he did not return any of the money.  Instead, he 
demanded more money from Hirji.  Hirji refused.  (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji 
attached as Exhibit "1" and Checks to Barket attached Exhibit "6")…. 
In April 2017, Ahders contacted Hirji to discuss the smear website that Barket had 
done on the Defendants and their family.  Hirji notified Ahders that his partner, 
Barket demanded and received $375,000.00 from him.  Ahders said he would 
reach out to Barket to get him to take down the smear website because it was bad 
for business.  From January 5, 2017 through December 2017, the Defendants 
continued to make monthly payments of $4,000.00 directly to Ahders' bank 
account.  Ahders received approximately $48,000.00 from the Defendants.  
Ahders and his partner, Barket, received a total of approximately $423,000.00 
from the Defendants between November 2016 and December 2017, which is four 

 
5 Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Entry of Confession of Judgment and 
Countermotion for Sanctions Pursuant to EDCR 7.60, filed on February 12, 2020 (the 
“Opposition”), p. 11:18-19. 
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times more than the amount of the initial investment/loan.  (See Affidavit of 
Shafik Hirji attached as Exhibit "1" p. 8 at ¶ 32 and Exhibit "6")…. 
 
In April 2017, the Defendants informed Ahders that his partner, Barket, 
demanded and received $375,000.00 from them. From January 5, 2017 through 
December 2017, the Defendants continued to make monthly payments of 
$4,000.00 directly to Ahders' bank account. Ahders received approximately 
$48,000.00 from the Defendants. Ahders and his partner, Barket, received 
approximately $423,000.00 from the Defendants between November 2016 
and December 2017 on a $100,000 investment/loan. (See Affidavit of Shafik 
Hirji attached at Exhibit "1"). As such, the underlying promissory note was fully 
satisfied and there was no legal basis for filing the Confession of Judgment. 
 

Opposition attached herein as Exhibit 4, at pp. 6:15-20, 7:1-10, 11:12-19, with Exhibits “1” and 

“6” attached. [Emphasis added]. 

 11. As of May 2020, Defendants now claim that that they actually paid $475,000 to 

Messrs. Barket and Ahders because there were supposedly paid in cash the additional sum of 

$176,500 from January 25, 2017 to March 4, 2017: 

                         Exhibit “39” Alleged Cash to Barket   
Date Payee Amount Signer Bates 

2/9/17 Cash / Shafik 
Brown 

$17,500 Shafik Brown / Account 
No. xxx6073 

PLTF00445 

2/24/17 Cash / Shafik 
Brown 

$6,000 Shafik Brown / Account 
No. xxx6073 

PLTF00454 

2/25/17 Cash / Shafik 
Brown 

$9,500 Shafik Brown / Account 
No. xxx6073 

PLTF00456 

2/8/17 Cash / Shafik 
Brown 

$20,000 Shafik Brown / Account 
No. xxx6073 

PLTF00458 

2/7/17 Cash / Shafik 
Brown 

$50,000 Shafik Brown / Account 
No. xxx6073 

PLTF00468 

2/2/17 Cash / Shafik 
Brown 

$7,500 Shafik Brown / Account 
No. xxx6073 

PLTF00470 

3/4/17 Cash / Shafik 
Brown 

$6,000 Shafik Brown / Account 
No. xxx6073 

PLTF00473 

1/25/2017 Cash / Shafik 
Brown 

$10,000 Shafik Brown / Account 
No. xxx6073 

PLTF00477 

1/25/2017 Cash / Shafik 
Brown 

$30,000 Shafik Brown / Account 
No. xxx6073 

PLTF00490 
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1/25/2017 Cash / Shafik 

Brown 
$20,000 Shafik Brown / Account 

No. xxx6073 
PLTF00492 

 Total $176,500.00   

 
Motion, Appendix of Exhibits VII of VII, Exhibit “39”. 

 12. If these cash withdrawal were in fact given to Mr. Barket, and as alleged by 

Defendants to also be for Michael Ahders, there would have been no reason to continue to pay 

Mr. Ahders through November 2017.   

13. Also, a prior affidavit of Hirji dated March 2, 2018, which specifically affirmed 

that Ahders only received $48,000 from January 2017 through December 2017, but though the 

Affidavit accompanied the Opposition filed on February 12, 2020, Hirji claimed that no 

opportunity to cure was provided6:  

I made payments to Mr. Ahders from January 5, 2017 through December 2017.  I 
did not receive a written notice of default from Mr. Ahders.  I was not provided an 
opportunity to cure.  The Plaintiff did not offer to amend the terms, extend the 
repayment terms, and/or to reduce the principal amount based on the $375,000 
that Barket demanded and received.  Mr. Ahders' Confession of Judgment does 
not provide a specific sum that is due or account for the principal and interest 
installment payments that were made from January 5, 2017 through December 
2017. 
 

Affidavit of Hirji, Exhibit 5. 

 12. Even after all the discovery, and access that Hirji would have to his own records, 

the payments as attached to the Opposition as Exhibit “6” amount to a total of $269,000, but 

which include a check for $150,000 and $60,000, which are specifically mentioned in the 

Memorandum.  These checks include: 

 
6 As memorialized by the correspondence dated November 25, 2019, and admitted by Ms. Zupan 
(Counsel for Judgment Debtors), notice was received and it was conceded Judgment Creditors 
were not going to fulfill their obligations pursuant to the Ahders Agreement.  Exhibit 2; Barnabi 
Declaration, ¶5.  Notwithstanding this admission, and lack of contesting that the Judgment 
Creditors owed Ahders under the Ahders Agreement, Ms. Zupan saw fit to write and that the, 
“underlying promissory note [for Ahders] was fully satisfied and there was no legal basis for 
filing the Confession of Judgment”  Opposition, Exhibit 4, p:11:18-19.   
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                         Exhibit “6” Checks to Barket  

Date Payee Amount Signer Check No. / Bates 

11/7/2016 Barket $10,000 Looks like "Shafik Hirji" 
but written on a check 
from "DBA Brown 
Enterprises Yasmin 
Brown Sole Prop" 

3634 / SH298 

11/7/2016 Barket $10,000 Looks like "Shafik 
Brown" but written on a 
check from "Boulevard 
Furniture Inc DBA 
Boulevard Furniture" 

1792 / SH299 

11/21/2016 Barket $15,000 Looks like "Shafik 
Brown" but written on a 
check from "Furniture 
Fusion LLC" 

1055 / SH300 

11/21/2016 Barket $15,000 Looks like "Shafik 
Brown" but written on a 
check from "Furniture 
Fusion LLC" 

1057 / SH301 

11/20/2017 Barket $60,000 Looks like "Shafik 
Brown" Personal Check 

No check no. / SH302 

2/2/2017 Repsentry $5,000 Shafik Brown Cashiers Check # 
0740803088 / SH303 

2/7/2017 Rep Sentry $150,000 Signer is redacted but the 
bottom right says “Sunset 
Furniture Inc.” 

5006 / SH304 

2/24/2017 Barket $4,000 Signer is redacted but the 
bottom right says “Sunset 
Furniture Inc.” 

5040 / SH305 

Total:   $269,000     

 

 13. Subtracting the $210,000 mentioned in the Memorandum, only $59,000 remains, 

which is far short from the supposed $423,000 which Barket supposedly received from 

November 2016 to December 2017.  cf. Exhibit 4, at pp. 7:1-10; Exhibit 4, with attached Exhibit 

“6.” 

 14. Hirji’s Affidavit, though obviously out of date, with the more recent events and 

admissions of Ms. Zupan, also affirms, that Hirji separately paid his obligation under the Ahders 

Agreement. 
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 15. However, again as described ion the Motion to Dismiss and noted above, 

Defendants now claim that they paid $176,500 in cash to Plaintiffs and Mr. Ahders, which would 

amount to a total of $493,500: 

 $176,500.00 Alleged cash payments 

     48,000.00  Payments admittedly made to Ahders 

   269,000.00 Payments to Barket noted in checks 

 $493,500.00 Total 

Yet this is not the total that Defendants claim was paid to Messrs. Barket and Ahders; they claim 

they only paid $375,000.  Motion, to Dismiss, pp. 5:1-4; 6:7-10; 22:8-12.  As with many facts 

which are ill construed, Defendants’ latest version of the payments tendered to Messrs. Barket 

and Ahders similarly fail basic common sense or the timing of confirmed events/agreements.       

D. Hirji and Brown Have an Extensively Sorted and Active Criminal and Civil 
Litigation Past Having Been Involved in Scores of Debt Collection Cases, Evictions, 
Indictments, etc. 

 
 16. Hirji and Brown actively defame and villainize any other parties in this case 

which are owed significant sums of money, despite the fact that they themselves have been 

involved in more litigation and criminal cases than all the other parties combined. 

 17. According to Clark County Court and Federal Court records, Shafik Hirji has 

been involved in numerous cases seeking to recover borrowed money, mismanagement leading 

to bankruptcy, evictions, criminal acts, etc.: 

  a. State of Nevada v. Hirji, et al., Case No. A531745 

b. In re Shafik Hirji, Case No. C281083 

c. State of Nevada v. Hirji, Case No. C-11-275958-1 

d. Clark County Justice Court Small Claims, Speeding and Eviction Cases 

(approximately 25) involving Shafik Hirji since 2002 through 2017 
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e. Cancer Care Foundation, Inc. v. Boulevard Furniture, Inc., Case No. A-

17-763895-C  

f. S550 Investments, Inc., Bankruptcy Case No. 17-16559-ABL  

g. Gizmo Empowered, Inc., Bankruptcy Case No. 17-16557-LED 

h. State of Nevada v. Shafik Brown, Case No. 17M29622X  

i.  Dermody Properties, Inc. v. Shafik Hirji, et al., Case No. A386836  

j. Shafik Hirji v. Barry Jacobsen, Case No. A-13-676419-C 

k. Blanchard Trust v. Shafik Hirji, Case No. A389417  

l. Ron Baldridge v. Shafik Hirji, Case No. A-08-568946-C  

m. Eastern Market Place, LLC v. Shafik Hirji, Case No. A652950 

n. Errico v. Hirji, Case No. A480626 (PLTF001395 – 1987) 

o. Las Vegas Review Journal v. Shafik Hirji, Shafik Brown, et al., Case No. 

A-18-778782-C 

p. LB-UBS 2007-C6 Anexx REO, LLC v. Shafik Brown, Case No. A-17-

765795-C 

Declaration of Steven Barket (“Barket Declaration”), Exhibit 8, ¶5. 

 18. This list also does not include, In re Shafik Hirji, Case No. 2:00-cr-00896-MMM-

1, United States District Court, Central District California involving charges filed on August 23, 

2000 for bankruptcy fraud.  Barket Declaration, ¶6.    

 19. Shafik Hirji, Shafik Brown and others who help manage” his busines have 

hundreds of thousands of dollars in tax liens.  Federal and State tax liens Re: Shafik Hirji, Shafik 

Brown, Hatari Restaurant c/o Alyssa Hirji, Yasmin Brown, Devin Neudeck, PLTF001372 – 

1394, attached herein as Exhibit 9.  Barket Declaration, ¶7.     
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 20. Currently, between the judgments, tax liens and restitution owed to the State of 

Nevada, Shafik Hirji and Shafik Brown owe in excess of $10 million dollars.  Barket 

Declaration, ¶8.     

21. Notwithstanding, Shafik Hirji regularly brags that he does not pay his bills and 

that is why he has attorneys; and despite owing millions of dollars to creditors can find a way to 

avoid his financial obligations.  Barket Declaration, ¶9.     

22. Shafik Hirji does not seem like someone who is worried about not stealing and 

defrauding others.  If you look at Hirji’s 20 year old girlfriend’s or wife TikTok account, (they 

refer to each other as husband and wife), you would think that you are watching how the truly 

wealthy and “well to do” of society live.  The videos almost entirely also appear to be produced 

at Shafik’s personal residence.  Barket Declaration, ¶10.      

23. In addition to having “user9294504300914” or “adrienneshafik” posts videos of 

Shafik in dresses, wearing wigs, or having designer Louis Vutton handbags7 thrown at him, 

Shafik Hirji is seen handling what appears to be hundreds of thousands of dollars, as if 

expressing he has more money than he knows what to do with.  Barket Declaration, ¶11.      

24. In one post, Shafik Hirji on Valentine’s Day this year, receives from his 

unemployed 20-year-old wife a brand new 2020 BMW M8 Competition model. The vehicle has 

a manufactured suggested retail price of $142,500.  Barket Declaration, ¶12.       

/// 

/// 

 
7 In one video, there is a post on how to make a Louis Vutton face mask by cutting the top off a  small 
Louis Vutton handbag and adding an ordinary facemask behind the Louis Vutton front.   
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The vehicle is actually registered in another relative’s name though.  (In other videos, Shafik’s 

“wife” represents that she is in control of all his accounts.)  Barket Declaration, ¶12.       

 25. In investigating Mr. Hirji’s management of several Purrfect Auto locations, which 

he is prevented by a permanent injunction to manage according to related case brought by the 

Nevada Attorney General’s Office; Mr. Hirji sent a letter to Sansone Companies asking for rent 

relief this same business which he is prevented by law from managing.  See attached 

correspondence to Barket Declaration.  Barket Declaration, ¶13.       

 26. Because Mr. Hirji is not supposed to manage the Purrfect Auto locations, the bank 

account is under “DBA Brown Enterprises Yasmin Brown Sole Proprietor” as mentioned in the 

Memorandum.  Barket Declaration, ¶14.            

27. In regard to the Memorandum and the payments received, Mr. Barket did not 

receive $375,000 or more from Shafik Hirji or Shafik Brown.  Neither were any of the payments 

that he received from them meant to go to Michael Ahders.  The payments received by Ahders 

were provided to him directly.  Barket Declaration, ¶15.        

28. In short, Mr. Hirji has been a quick study on how to defraud people from their 

money, maintain assets in other’s names, defraud investors, compel unnecessary litigation, etc.  
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His extensive litigation (both criminal and civil), federal tax liens, evictions and other confirmed 

acts which have been memorialized at length all speak to his overwhelmingly lack of credibility 

and the person he is.  Barket Declaration, ¶16.         

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. 

SUPPLEMENTAL LEGAL ARGUMENT 

A. Defendants’ Motion Should Be Denied Without Any Consideration Because the 
Motion Itself Is Over the Permitted Limit and Permission Was Not Requested 
Beforehand. 

Local Rule 2.20(a) states in part, “(a) Unless otherwise ordered by the court, papers 

submitted in support of pretrial and post-trial briefs shall be limited to 30 pages, excluding 

exhibits.”  NV ST 8 DIST CT Rule 2.20.  The Motion to Dismiss is 34 pages, and accompanied 

with nearly 650 pages of exhibits.  On its face the Motion to Dismiss should be denied without 

the merits being considered.     

B. Dismissal Based on NRCP 41(e) or Abuse of Process is Improper. 
 
 Defendants cannot prove or demonstrate by any reasonable degree why dismissal with 

prejudice is justified pursuant to NRCP 41(e).  Defendants have also forgotten the COVID-19 

Administrative Orders which they recited this Court when they were not provided an ongoing 

extension to oppose Plaintiffs’ and Michael Ahders Motion for Chapter 11 Sanctions.  That 

Order states in pertinent part: 

This Court, under the present emergency, reminds attorneys that they have an 
obligation to be cooperative with courts and with each other as we all navigate 
these challenging circumstances. This is not the time to press for unwarranted 
tactical advantages, unreasonably deny continuances or other accommodations, or 
otherwise take advantage of challenges presented due to the current pandemic. 
 

AO 20-13, Dated April 17, 2020. 
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However, in part because of the pandemic (and counsel’s more recent health issues) the parties 

collectively agreed to an extension of discovery deadlines and dates of 180 days.  It would be 

premature to dismiss this mater in its current posture.   

Nor have Defendants cited one case with any slight similarity in which the case was 

actually dismissed pursuant to NRCP 41(e).  Holdings as benchmarks without any context, does 

not provide guidance, it merely allows Defendants to contort their version of the truth in 

unilateral fashion.   

1. Plaintiffs and Michael Ahders Have Taken Significant Efforts to Pursue 
Their Causes of Action. 

 
Ironically while claiming that Plaintiff and Michael Ahders have not properly pursued 

their claims and label any efforts to that point as “schemes.”  The lack of Defendants approval of 

Plaintiffs or Mr. Ahders methods of enforcing its judgments, notes, issuing writs, filing motion to 

enforce settlement agreements, NRCP 16.1 disclosures, etc. – is not a factor in NRCP 41(e).  

Even, Defendants’ own recollection of the history of the case involves the intertwining of parties, 

obligations and attempts to parse these issues; with several different attorneys being involved in 

the case.  Plaintiffs have had three different firms act as counsel, Michael has had two currently 

and Dr. Sharda has had two-three different firms.  Currently, Michael Mushkin has also advised 

all of the Defendants that he will be appearing for Plaintiffs in this matter.8   

In Campbell v. Lake Terrace, Inc., 111 Nev. 1329, 1334, 905 P.2d 163, 166 (1995), 

overruled for other reasons by Aviation Ventures, Inc. v. Joan Morris, Inc., 121 Nev. 113, 110 

P.3d 59 (2005), Lake Terrace’s motion to dismiss for lack of prosecution was dismissed based on 

a similar scenario when efforts had been made by the opposing party to prosecute its claims but 

counsel had been changed in the interim.  On appeal, the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed the 

 
8 At this time the parties are engaged in settlement discussions with Mr. Mushkin taking the lead to see if  
a global resolution can be reached. 
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denial though Campbell failed to serve Lake Terrace in the first action and was compelled to 

bring another action.  Affirming that a case should be dismissed if service wasn’t perfected 

within two years of filing the lawsuit, the Court in Hassett v. St. Mary's Hosp. Ass'n, 86 Nev. 

900, 904, 478 P.2d 154, 157 (1970) upheld the dismiss by the lower court.  In that case the 

complaint was filed, but service was not perfected until two years, which justified a dismissal 

pursuant to NRCP 41(e).  See Id.  In contrast, Plaintiff and Michael Ahders have done much 

more than any cases upholding a dismissal pursuant to NRCP 41(e).        

A brief review of the docket shows numerous filings meant to either vindicate or 

invalidate the respective claims.  For example, Mr. Ahders Motion for Entry of Confession of 

Judgment is set to be heard at the same time as the Motion to Dismiss.  Except the Motion for 

Entry of Confession of Judgment against Defendant was filed on January 29, 2020.  That Motion 

was continued at the request of Defendants.  Nonetheless, that Motion will resolve whether 

Defendants are bound by their Confessions of Judgment, which Nevada law holds they can now 

contradict.  If the Confession of Judgment is entered, the Counterclaim of Defendants can be 

used to satisfy the Judgment; which would eliminate another portion of the case.  The Settlement 

Agreement with Navneet has been subject to a motion to enforce in this case and currently a 

motion to enforce trial/evidentiary hearing before Judge Williams.  The parties were agreeable to 

a continuance based on the circumstances and specifically the Pandemic and counsel’s health.  

Judge Williams agreed with the decision based on the unique circumstances.  However, 

resolving the assignment of the notes is a large part of this case as well.  Nor was it anticipated 

that the Settlement Agreement, which was formerly agreed upon, would be claimed as the 

product of duress over a year after the fact. 

The parties have also agreed to extend discovery for 180 days and a stipulation for the 

same has been provided.  It fails reason to claim that there has been a lack of diligence based on 
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the amount of filings, efforts and time expended by Plaintiffs, while the parties have also agreed 

to afford each other additional time to pursue their claims.  It is the policy of this state that cases 

be heard on the merits, whenever possible. Hotel Last Frontier v. Frontier Properties, 79 Nev. 

150, 380 P.2d 293 (1963).”  Schulman v. Bongberg-Whitney Elec., Inc., 98 Nev. 226, 228, 645 

P.2d 434, 435 (1982).  There is no reason that in this case, that Plaintiffs and Michael Ahders 

should not likewise be afforded Nevada’s long-standing policy to have this matter heard on the 

merits.9 

2. Defendants Denial of Plaintiff and Michael Ahders Merit Based Claims is 
Irrelevant. 

 
Though, Defendants admittedly did not pay Plaintiffs all amounts due pursuant to the 

Memorandum and looted the bank account driving it into closure, and also admittedly did not 

pay Michael Ahders the $100,000 owed – they contradictorily claim that there is no merit to their 

claims.  Defendants have not shown any evidence that they provided Ahders with any payments 

other than the $48,000 provided in 11 installments from January 2017 to November 2017.  

Defendants cannot prove any validity to their new story that Barket received $176,500 in cash 

withdrawn by Shafik Hirji and Shafik Brown from January 2017 to March 2017.  If Ahders was 

not owed additional sums, then there would be no reason to continue payment past March 2017.  

The Memorandum did not require Barket to invest the $1 million.  Yet, now having gotten the 

benefit of the funds being raised, spending it all for themselves; Defendants want to go back and 

revisit their interpretation.  Defendants didn’t believe they didn’t owe Barket any further sums in 

2017, and their new explanation is only another self-serving revised “pitch” meant to suit their 

current purpose – getting away without paying anything.  Defendants do not get contradict their 

 
9 This is especially true at this moment when the current trial and calendar have been vacated, and not 
been reset. 
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own actions and the words of the confession of judgment they voluntary signed.10  Yet, 

Defendants take no issue and have no shame in claiming they have been victimized when they 

themselves have deprived others of millions of dollars.  Any argument postured by Defendants 

for dismissal pursuant to NRCP 41(e) is so incredulous, self-serving and ridiculous, it cannot 

withstand common sense or independent reason.    

C. Defendant’s Abuse of Process Argument Similarly Fails.  

 Nevada's seminal abuse of process case is Bull v. McCuskey, 96 Nev. 706, 615 P.2d 957 

(1980) (abrogated on unrelated grounds). In Bull, an attorney filed a medical malpractice action 

against a doctor. Bull, 96 Nev. at 707. “Before filing suit,” the attorney failed to examine medical 

records, failed to obtain medical records, failed to confer with a doctor and failed to submit his 

client's claim (pre-litigation) to a mandated “screening panel.” Id. at 708. “After filing suit,” the 

attorney did not depose the defendant doctor, did not depose any other doctor and did  not  retain 

an expert witness. Id. “Shortly before trial,” the attorney, on behalf of his client, offered to 

 
10 Defendants arguments about “apparent authority” and the like are tortuously indifferent to the facts of 
the case.  Defendants took the benefit of the funds raised and provided, but want to contradict the terms 
and their actions, which would be prevented by equitable estoppel or basic contract interpretation (as the 
terms were clear between the parties):   

“Equitable estoppel functions to prevent the assertion of legal rights that in **1062 equity 
and good conscience should not be available due to a party's conduct.”20  This court has 
previously established the four elements of equitable estoppel: 

(1) the party to be estopped must be apprised of the true facts; (2) he must intend 
that his conduct shall be acted upon, or must so act that the party asserting 
estoppel has the right to believe it was so intended; (3) the party asserting the 
estoppel must be ignorant of the true state of facts; (4) he must have relied to his 
detriment on the conduct of the party to be estopped. 

In re Harrison Living Tr., 121 Nev. 217, 223, 112 P.3d 1058, 1061 (2005). 

In this case there is little question that Defendants did not know the consequences and obligations of the 
Memorandum, desired Barket and Ahders to provide funds and assistance by acting on their 
representations, but that Defendants were not going to fulfill their obligations to Michael Ahders and 
Plaintiffs’ detriment.  If Defendants actually believed heir misguided representations regarding the 
enforceability of the Memorandum or the Confession of Judgment they could have f iled  a motion f or 
summary judgment years ago.     
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resolve the malpractice claim for $750. Id. “During trial,” the attorney repeatedly defamed the 

defendant doctor. Id. The jury returned a verdict in favor of the doctor, and, thereafter, the doctor 

“commenced [an] action against [the attorney] for abuse of process.” Id. The doctor contended 

that the attorney, “instituted a malpractice suit against him for the ulterior purpose of coercing a 

nuisance settlement knowing that there was no basis for the claim of malpractice.” Id. at 707. 

 In this case no similar facts exist to establish an abuse of process argument.  Defendants 

have readily conceded in confessions, agreements and other documents that they owe the other 

parties substantial sums of money.  If Defendants would have paid as agreed there would have 

been no basis to start the lawsuits.  Defendants have never offered anything reasonable to resolve 

the claims with any of the parties.  Even after being provided with notice by Ahders pursuant to 

his agreement with the Defendants; Defendants refused to resolve the issue. Efforts to collect 

money owed for debt admittedly owed is not the type of coercion, extortion or “ulterior motive” 

necessary to demonstrate abuse of process.  If that were the case, Defendants efforts to thwart 

repayment for any debt would likewise be an abuse of process.   

D. Seeking a Determination of Vexatious Litigant Against Mr. Barket, Restrictive 
Order or Enjoining Further Action is Frivolous – And a Further Attempt to 
Restrain Plaintiffs from Pursuing Amounts Against Defendants Admittedly Owed. 

 

Though Defendants have been involved in over 40 litigation cases, both criminal and 

civil, they oddly claim Mr. Barket should be deemed a “vexatious litigant.”  A “vexatious 

litigant” is one “who repeatedly files frivolous lawsuits.” Black's Law Dictionary 952 (8th ed. 

2004). In order to deter such conduct, this court has approved of the use of sanctions, including 

limiting by order a vexatious litigant's right to access the courts. Jordan v. State, Dep't of Motor 

Vehicles, 121 Nev. 44, 58-60, 110 P.3d 30, 41-42 (2005), abrogated on other grounds by Buzz 

Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas, 124 Nev. 224, 228 n. 6, 181 P.3d 670, 672 n. 6 (2008).  

Restrictions imposed by vexatious litigant orders may include prohibiting the litigant from filing 
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future actions against a particular party or barring the litigant from filing any new action without 

first demonstrating to the court that the proposed case is not frivolous. Id. 

 In Jordan, the Nevada Supreme Court adopted a four-factor analysis that courts should 

use to determine when to declare a party a vexatious litigant. First, the litigant must be provided 

reasonable notice of and an opportunity to oppose a restrictive order's issuance. Id. at 60. Second, 

the district court must create an adequate record for review, setting forth the reasons that led it  to 

conclude that a restrictive order was needed to curb repetitive or abusive activities. Id. This 

factor should be based on cases the judge is assigned to, or on actual rulings in other cases. Id. at 

61. Third, the district court must make “‘substantive findings as to the frivolous or harassing 

nature of the litigant's actions.” Id. (quoting De Long v. Hennessey, 89-15147, 1990 WL 124675 

(9th Cir. 1990). The restrictive order “cannot issue merely upon a showing of litigiousness.” Id. 

(citing Moy v. U.S., 906 F.2d 467, 470 (9th Cir. 1990)). The litigant's filings must not only be 

repetitive or abusive, but also be without an arguable factual or legal basis, or filed with the 

intent to harass. Id. (citations omitted). Fourth and finally, the order must be narrowly drawn to 

address the specific problem encountered.   

In this case, Defendants cannot meet the definition or the facts establishing a “vexatious 

litigant.”  At no time have Defendants denied that they did not receive all the benefits of the 

loans, investments or monies received from the several parties or denied that they did not execute 

documents such as the Memorandum, Ahders Confession of Judgment and other notes and 

agreements assigned to Plaintiffs.  Each of the agreements are unique in that not every that 

provided funds was the same party.  If Defendants did not want to face a multitude of claims 

from different parties, they should have not agreed to take the funds, take the benefit of having 

raised or entered into so many agreements with as many parties.  Based on the plain facts of the 

case there is no basis to issue notice, restrictive order or other further artifice to deprive Mr. 
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Barket from collecting the amounts due.  Further, if Defendants want to forego more litigation, 

they can start by either not borrowing money to embezzle or satisfying the obligations of their 

several agreements. 

E. Defendants Demand for Equitable Relief Such as a Permanent Injunction is 
Laughable as They Have Yet to Exercise Any Degree of Equitable Conduct, the 
Several Agreements and Defendants Affirm Their Numerous Breaches, Have Not 
Pursued The Claimed Disparage Which Occurred Years Ago, Fail to Offer to Post 
Bond and Other Short Comings.  
 

 Defendants are con-men leaving in their wake millions in judgments, restitution, liens 

and expended attorney’s fees and costs in their wake – that is a matter of fact considering the 

numerous court records and filings.  Injunctive relief is available if an applicant can show a 

likelihood of success on the merits and a reasonable probability that the non-moving party’s 

conduct, if allowed to continue, will cause irreparable harm for which compensatory damage is 

an inadequate remedy.  Pickett v. Comanche Construction, Inc., 108 Nev. 422, 426, 836, P.2d 42, 

44 (1992).11  A central factor to be considered by the Court in connection with a motion for 

injunctive relief is whether the party seeking the injunction has shown a reasonable probability of 

success on the merits.  E.G. Sobol v. Capital Management Consultants, Inc., 102 Nev. 444, 726, 

P.2d 335 (1986).  Indeed, the party seeking the injunction must make a “persuasive showing of 

irreparable harm...,” and must further show a “substantial likelihood that it will prevail on the 

merits of the underlying action.” Clark Pacific v. Krump Construction, Inc., 942 F. Supp 1324, 

 
11  A preliminary injunction is an “extraordinary and drastic remedy, one that should not be 

granted unless the movant, by a clear showing, carries the burden of 
persuasion.” Mazurek v. Armstrong, 520 U.S. 968, 972, 117 S.Ct. 1865, 138 L.Ed.2d 162 
(1997) (quoting 11A Charles Alan Wright & Arthur Miller, Federal Practice & 
Procedure § 2948 (2d ed.1995)). “The cases best suited to preliminary relief are those in 
which the important facts are undisputed, and the parties simply disagree about what the 
legal consequences are of those facts.” Remlinger v. State of Nev., 896 F.Supp. 1012, 
1015 (D.Nev.1995). 

 
Saini v. Int'l Game Tech., 434 F. Supp. 2d 913, 919 (D. Nev. 2006). 
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1346-1347 (D. Nev. 1996). 

1. Defendants’ Claimed Lack of Adequate Remedy is Based on Monetary Relief 
Improper for Injunctive Relief. 

 
As mentioned in the Motion to Dismiss, “Barket’s actions harmed the reputations and the 

reputations of their business…which led to the closure of those businesses.”  Id. at p. 31:4-6.  

The loss of business and their closure is calculable in monetary damages and not irreparable 

harm justifying injunctive relief.  Defendants bear the burden of establishing that money 

damages will be inadequate.  In this case, they do not meet this burden.  Further, Defendants 

Counterclaim filed on filed September 5, 2017 affirms that for each cause of action, whether 

based on contract or tort, that the damages for each is at least $15,000 nor was injunctive relief 

requested.    

In Number One Rent-A-Car v. Ramada Inns (1978) 94 Nev. 779, the parties entered an 

exclusive licensing agreement whereby Number One acquired the right to provide car rental 

services to Ramada customers in Las Vegas. Disputes arose as to payment of certain licensing 

fees and Ramada instructed its customers that effective January 1, 1977, Econo-Car would 

henceforth be its car rental agent.   

Number One sued Ramada and obtained an ex parte temporary restraining order 

prohibiting Ramada from violating the licensing agreement.  The TRO was dissolved, and the 

dissolution was affirmed by the Nevada Supreme Court.  Relevant to this action, the Supreme 

Court held that Number One was not entitled to equitable relief because “money damages is an 

adequate remedy.”  Number One, 94 Nev. at 781.  The Supreme Court also observed that “[e]ven 

if the substitution of Econo-Car as Ramada's licensee should force [Number One] into 

bankruptcy, the trustee could bring the damages suit in its behalf.”  Id.  In this case, Defendants 

seeks money damages from Defendants and even if Defendants’ alleged breach of contract 

forces Plaintiff into bankruptcy, Number One holds that Plaintiff has an adequate remedy at law 
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so that it is not entitled to obtain a preliminary injunction.   

The Dangberg Holdings decision likewise reveals the nature of harm that is considered to 

be irreparable through money damages.  In Dangberg Holdings, the State of Nevada sought to 

recover a piece of real property that it contended it had a contractual right to obtain and use as a 

state park and museum.  It successfully obtained a preliminary injunction to prevent the owner of 

the property from selling it to another party because money damages could not compensate it for 

the loss of the real property.  Plaintiff, however, does not make any similar allegations. 

 In this case, Defendants does not allege, let alone establish, that it will suffer any harm 

akin to the harm alleged in Number One or Dangberg Holdings.  Plaintiff’s Complaint seeks 

monetary relief.  Further the actions which supposedly harmed Defendants initially occurred 

years ago and there is no evidence presented that any of the claimed misconduct has any effect 

whatsoever.  As Defendants cannot prove these points by clear and convincing evidence, the 

request for permanent injunction must fail.     

2. Plaintiff Fails to Establish a Reasonable Likelihood of Success on the Merits 
Especially When It Has Failed to Abide by Any Agreement.  

 
Defendants cannot establish a reasonable likelihood of success on the merits because it 

does not discuss the merits of the claims it is asserting against Plaintiffs or Michael Ahders, it is 

simply rephrasing of rhetoric which does not prove any relevant factors.  If Defendants who are 

so critical of Plaintiffs for supposedly not being diligent in pursuing their claim, can provide 

nothing more than rhetoric, self-serving statements and make broad based claims that they are 

not as despicable as public records would reasonable relay, they have surely failed to carry any 

reasonability of success.  Additionally, if Defendants believed so vigorously in this right of 

injunction, they could have asked long ago.    

In an opinion cited by Plaintiff, Dangberg Holdings, supra, the Supreme Court noted that  

none of the parties contested the validity of the contract that gave the State the right to obtain the 
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property and as a result it had a reasonable probability of success “in enforcing its rights pursuant 

to those agreements.”  Dangberg Holdings, 115 Nev. at 143.  As such, the State satisfied this 

prong of the analysis.  Dangberg Holdings demonstrates the connection between the relief 

sought in a party’s complaint and the relief sought by a preliminary injunction that is necessary 

to grant the injunction.   

In this matter, there is no relationship between the relief sought in a pleading and the 

relief it seeks through its request for an injunction.  The Counterclaim seeks money while its 

request for a preliminary injunction seeks to restrict Plaintiffs’ actions.  Plaintiff does not 

establish any nexus, and this failure is fatal to any attempt to obtain a preliminary injunction. 

 The Nevada Supreme Court similarly discussed the necessary relationship between a 

party’s complaint and its request for a preliminary injunction in Ottenheimer v. Real Estate Div. 

of Nev. Dep't of Commerce (1975) 91 Nev. 338.  Ottenheimer involved a suit to invalidate a 

statute that required sellers of subdivision property to have real estate licenses.  The plaintiffs 

obtained a preliminary injunction precluding the enforcement of the new statute pending the 

outcome of the litigation.  Again, the scope of the injunction was directly related to the relief 

sought in the Counterclaim, and if there was any it has long since passed.  Nor is there any 

evidence that any effects are felt with any other business operations. 

3. Plaintiff Has Failed to Address that Security or a Bond Should Be Posted to 
Compensate Plaintiffs from Being Restrained from their Lawful Rights of 
Free Speech or Other Permissible Conduct. 

 
 Defendants fail to address the issue of posting security which is fatal to the issuing of an 

injunction.  In relevant part, NRCP 65 provides: 

(c) Security. The court may issue a preliminary injunction or a temporary 
restraining order only if the movant gives security in an amount that the court 
considers proper to pay the costs and damages sustained by any party found to 
have been wrongfully enjoined or restrained. The State, its officers, and its 
agencies are not required to give security. 
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In Dangberg Holdings, that Court noted that a request for TRO and preliminary injunction is 

void if a bond is not posted: 

We have previously held that the district court's failure to require the applicant to 
post security voids an order imposing a preliminary injunction. In Strickland v. 
Griz Corp., 92 Nev. 322, 323, 549 P.2d 1406, 1407 (1976), this court held that “ 
‘[w]here a bond is required by statute before the issuance of an injunction, it must 
be exacted or the order will be absolutely void.’ ” (quoting Shelton v. **321 
District Court, 64 Nev. 487, 494, 185 P.2d 320, 323–24 (1947)). 

Id at 129. 
 

An injunction requested without bond is therefore void.  As Defendants has not offered or appear 

willing to post a bond, or even a reasonable bond considering it seeks to restrain free speech, 

collection of notes and other debt owed the injunction must be denied.   

4. Defendants Fail to Address Whether an Injunction is the Public Interests.    

 Another issue to consider in issuing an injunction is public interest.  It stands to reason 

that the public would desire to hear of the unlawful business activities of the Defendants, who 

are admittedly involved in auto repair locations, yet Shafik Hirji is specifically prohibited by 

Court order from doing so.  Defendants have defrauded scores of creditors and have their right to 

claim a balance favoring their interest as opposed to the hundreds of people that they have 

harmed.     

F. Defendant’s Demand for Attorney’s Fees Which Have Denied Based on the Same 
Claimed Facts on Numerous Occasions Should Likewise Be Denied Again. 

 

 In nearly every motion, counter-motion or response, Defendants seek an award of fees 

due to claimed frivolousness; but yet to affirm how they are somehow being maligned after the 

theft of every other parties time, money or efforts that benefitted them.  These several requests 

have already been decided and there is no further basis to now have this Court reconsider those 
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same rulings or those of Judge Cory’s in denying an award of attorney fees and costs pursuant to 

NRS 18.010.12  

III. 

CONCLUSION 
 

Wherefore based on the foregoing it is respectfully requested that this Court deny the 

Motion to Dismiss in its entirety. 

Dated this 3rd day of September 2020. 

        THE BARNABI LAW FIRM, PLLC 

 
By:    /s/ CJ Barnabi   

CHARLES E. (“CJ”) BARNABI JR., ESQ.  
Nevada Bar No.: 14477  
375 East Warm Springs Road, Ste. 104 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119  
Attorneys for Plaintiffs and Michael Ahders 

 
12 In its discretion, the district court may award attorney fees under NRS 18.010(2)(b) and EDCR 
7.60(b) if a party brings an unreasonable or frivolous claim.  Rivero v. Rivero, 125 Nev. 410, 
441, 216 P.3d 213, 234 (2009); Semenza v. Caughlin Crafted Homes, 111 Nev. 1089, 1095, 901 
P.2d 684, 687 (1995). But “there must be evidence supporting the district court's finding that the 
claim or defense was unreasonable or brought to harass.” Rivero, 125 Nev. at 441, 216 P.3d at 
234. A claim is frivolous or unreasonable if it is “not supported by any credible evidence.” See 
Bergmann v. Boyce, 109 Nev. 670, 675, 856 P.2d 560, 563 (1993) (internal quotation marks 
omitted), superseded by statute on other grounds as stated in In re DISH Network Derivative 
Litig., 133 Nev. 438, 451 n.6, 401 P.3d 1081, 1093 n.6 (2017).   
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APEN 
THE BARNABI LAW FIRM, PLLC 
CHARLES (“CJ”) E. BARNABI JR., ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 14477 
375 E. Warm Springs Road, Ste. 104 
Las Vegas, NV 89119 
Email: cj@barnabilaw.com  
Telephone: (702) 475-8903 
Facsimile: (702) 966-3718 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs and Michael Ahders 
    

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

STEVEN BARKET, an individual; and G65 

VENTURES, LLC., a Nevada Limited 

Liability Company, 

 

Plaintiffs, 

vs. 

 

SHAFIK HIRJI, an individual; SHAFIK 

BROWN, an individual; and NAVNEET 

SHARDA, an individual; FURNITURE 

BOUTIQUE, LLC., A Nevada Limited 

Liability Company, and DOES 1-X, inclusive 

and ROE CORPORATIONS XI through XX, 

 

Defendants. 

______________________________________ 

 

AND ALL RELATED AND 

CONSOLIDATED MATTERS 

             

Case No.:  A-17-756274-C  
Dept. No.:  IV 
 
 
 
Consolidated With: 
 
Case No.: A-18-770121-C 
 
Hearing Date: 10/20/2020 
Hearing Time:  9 a.m. 
 
 
 

 

 
APPENDIX OF EXHIBITS  

 
COMES NOW Plaintiffs and Michael Ahders, by and through their counsel of record, CJ 

Barnabi, Esq. of The Barnabi Law Firm, PLLC, and submits their Appendix of Exhibits to 

Opposition to Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss and Related Relief: 

Case Number: A-17-756274-C

Electronically Filed
9/3/2020 12:27 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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TABLE OF CONTENTS 

EXHIBIT TITLE DOC NO. 

 Declarations of Michael Ahders and CJ Barnabi, Esq.  

1. November 21, 2016 Confession of Judgment 1-19 

2. November 25, 2019 Notice of Default and Demand to Immediately 
Cure 

20 – 24 

3. Memorandum of Understanding 25 – 28 

4. Defendants' Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion for Entry of 
Confession of Judgment and Countermotion for Sanctions 
Pursuant to EDCR 7.60 dated February 12, 2020 

29 – 64 

5. Defendants' Motion to Vacate Confession of Judgment dated 
March 4, 2018 

65 – 80 

6. Defendants' Emergency Motion to Vacate Confession of Judgment 
dated January 14, 2020 

81 – 162 

7. [Reserved] 163 

8. Declaration of Steven Barket  164 - 171 

 
Dated this 4th day of September 2020. 

        THE BARNABI LAW FIRM, PLLC 

 
By: /s/ CJ Barnabi      

CHARLES E. (“CJ”) BARNABI JR., ESQ.  
Nevada Bar No.: 14477  
375 East Warm Springs Road, Ste. 104 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119  
Attorneys for Plaintiffs and Michael Ahders 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I hereby certify that on the 4th day of September 2020, I served a copy of the foregoing 

upon each of the parties via Odyssey E-Filing System pursuant to NRCP 5(b)(2)(D) and EDCR 

8.05, which have complied with said rules in providing their requested emails addresses for 

electronic service: 

Steven Barket - Plaintiff: 
Steven Barket                         sbarket@me.com  
Charles ("CJ") E. Barnabi Jr. cj@mcdonaldlawyers.com  
Brandon McDonald             Brandon@mcdonaldlawyers.com  
Jan Richey                         jan@mcdonaldlawyers.com 
 
Shafik Hirji - Defendant: 
Daniel Marks             Office@danielmarks.net  
Teletha L. Zupan tzupan@danielmarks.net 
 
G65 Ventures LLC - Plaintiff: 
Steven Barket             sbarket@me.com 
Brandon McDonald brandon@mcdonaldlawyers.com 
 
Shafik Brown – Defendant 
Danie Marks             Office@danielmarks.net  
Teletha L. Zupan tzupan@danielmarks.net 
 
Navneet Sharda – Defendant 
Luz Garcia             nvrec@avalonlg.com  
Harold P Gewerter harold@gewerterlaw.com  
Bryan Naddafi             bryan@avalonlg.com  
Kurt Naddafi             kurt@avalonlg.com 
 
Furniture Boutique LLC – Defendant 
Daniel Marks             office@danielmarks.net  
Teletha L. Zupan tzupan@danielmarks.net 
 
Navneet Sharda - Counter Claimant 
Luz Garcia             nvrec@avalonlg.com  
Harold P Gewerter harold@gewerterlaw.com  
Sarah Lauer-Overby sarah.lo@olympialawpc.com  
Bryan Naddafi             bryan@avalonlg.com  
Bryan Naddafi             bryan@sterlingkerrlaw.com  
Kurt Naddafi             kurt@avalonlg.com 
 
Trata Inc. - Counter Claimant 
Luz Garcia             nvrec@avalonlg.com  
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Harold P Gewerter harold@gewerterlaw.com  
Michael Mazur mmmazur@mazurbrooks.com  
Bryan Naddafi             bryan@avalonlg.com  
Kurt Naddafi             kurt@avalonlg.com 
 
Other Service Contacts: 
Charles ("CJ") E. Barnabi Jr. cj@barnabilaw.com 
Marie Twist   marie@barnabilaw.com 
 
 Dated this 4th day of September 2020. 

 
______________/s/ CJ Barnabi_____________ 
An employee of The Barnabi Law Firm, PLLC 
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DECLARATION OF MICHAEL AHDERS 

 Michael Ahders, under penalties of perjury, being first duly sworn, deposes and says:    

1. That he is the Plaintiff/Judgment Creditor in the above-entitled consolidated action; 

and that this Declaration is submitted in support of the foregoing Motion. 

2. That on November 21, 2016, Shafik Hirji, Shafik Brown and Boulevard 

Furniture, Inc. (“Judgment Debtors”) executed a Confession of Judgment and Security 

Agreement in favor of Michael Ahders (“Ahders Loan”). 

3. That Judgment Debtors made 11 payments of $4,000 towards the Ahders Loan 

from January 2017 to November 2017. 

This statement is made under penalty of perjury. 

DATED this 3rd day of September 2020. 

 
 

________/s/ Michael Ahders_________ 
Michael Ahders 
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DECLARATION OF CJ BARNABI, ESQ. 

 CJ Barnabi, Esq., under penalties of perjury, being first duly sworn, deposes and says:    

1. That he is counsel for the Plaintiff/Judgment Creditor in the above-entitled action; 

and that this Declaration is submitted in support of the foregoing Motion. 

2. That he has read the foregoing Motion and knows the facts as described; that the 

same are true of his own knowledge except for those matters which are based on information 

provided by other related parties, that the exhibits are true and correct copies of those 

documents represented. 

3. That on November 25, 2019 he provided to counsel for Judgment Debtors, 

correspondence entitled “NOTICE OF DEFAULT AND DEMAND TO IMMEDIATELY 

CURE.” 

4. That as the November 25, 2019 correspondence confirmed, only 11 payments 

of $4,000 had been made by the Judgment Debtors, and that they had until December 4, 2019 

to satisfy the $176,000 balance. 

5. That on December 4, 2019 counsel for Judgment Creditor, Michael Ahders 

discussed this matter with Teletha Zupan, Esq., counsel for Judgement Debtors.  Ms. Zupan 

affirmed that her firm was representing the Judgment Debtors, and that they had received the notice 

of default and demand to cure correspondence previously sent on November 25, 2019. Ms. Zupan 

also affirmed that the Judgment Debtors would not be able to satisfy their obligation as described 

in the notice.   

6. That to date the Judgment Debtors have not made any payments following 

December 4, 2019, or since November 2017, and the total amount paid remains $48,000. 

7. That on January 20, 2017 Shafik Brown, Shafik Hirji and Steven Barket, executed 

the Memorandum of Understanding (the “Memorandum”). 

8. That from approximately August 5, 2019 to January 8, 2020 the parties engaged in 

prolonged settlement discussions. 

9. That based on those settlement discussions opposing counsels are fully aware that 

the arguments as described in the above Motion are false, have no merit and are without any 

evidentiary support. 
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10. That there was no discussion between counsels that affirmed, argued, evidenced or 

otherwise contradicted that Hirji and Brown were not aware of their legal obligations or that their 

counsel, Ms. Zupan, was not also keenly aware that the allegation of the Ahders Agreement being 

satisfied was not true. 

11. That Ms. Zupan did not dispute the contentions of the November 25, 2019 

correspondence, when she spoke to the undersigned on December 4, 2019.  Nor did Ms. Zupan 

allege, as she and Mr. Marks have in these further filings, that Hirji and Brown had paid $375,000 

- $423,000, and that the Ahders Agreement was satisfied. 

12. That while counsel is not providing this information to obfuscate the requirements 

of NRS 48.105; the actions of opposing counsel in candidly admitting the true factual and legal 

scenario during these discussions, and their outward filings to the Court, obviously serve and are 

“offered for another purpose.”   

13. That purpose is to further demonstrate, along with other evidence as described 

above, that Ms. Zupan and Mr. Marks are willfully engaging in sanctionable conduct by continuing 

to mislead, with impunity, this Court by repeatedly claiming as true, facts and circumstances which 

they cannot after reasonable inquiry believe themselves. 

14. A draft of this Motion was e-served through the Court’s electronic service system 

to Ms. Zupan and Mr. Marks on April 9, 2020.  After Ms. Zupan asked for an extension to file a 

response, and my response that, “The Motion has not been filed, only served per Rule 11.” 

Correspondence was received on April 24, 2020, with a written response. Exhibit 7, 

Correspondence from Ms. Zupan. 

15. Ms. Zupan’s correspondence ignored that prior admissions and did not address the 

fact that their own claimed documents did not support their disingenuous calculations.  Id.  In 

response the undersigned replied: 

Teletha: 
 
Your correspondence fails to address the fact that you, Mr. Marks and your clients 
treat the two separate and distinct agreements between Mr. Ahders and Mr. Barket 
as one joint agreement.  Yet admittedly your clients owe Mr. Ahders alone nearly 
$200,000.  All the evidence you have produced within the past couple of years 

JA000911
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doesn’t prove the $475,000 in supposed cash and checks was paid.  Essentially, 
your correspondence is the same conjecture, that is discussed in the draft Rule 11 
Motion, and has been passed off as truth.   
 
If you have a proposal to address these issues during this time, then please 
advise.  Considering the 21 day safe harbor period and that the motion will not 
likely be heard for another 30-45 days, based on the Court’s discretion, I believe 
that is more than a reasonable amount of time to address the issues raised in the 
Motion.  However, if it is your intention to basically tell me how frivolous the 
Motion is, demand the withdrawal, when you have avoided the substance of the 
Motion and sought sanctions against me for much less, that isn’t a resolution I will 
consider. 
 

Email dated April 24, 2020, from CJ Barnabi, Esq. to Teletha Zupan, Esq. 
 
 16. Currently, the parties hav agreed that discovery should be reopened and extended 

for another 180 days.  In furtherance of the parties agreement, I provided opposing counsels with 

a draft of the stipulation and order on September 2, 2020.  

This statement is made under penalty of perjury. 

DATED this 3rd day of September 2020. 

 
 

_______/s/ CJ Barnabi   
CJ Barnabi, Esq. 
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MOT 
LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL MARKS 
DANIEL MARKS, ESQ. 
Nevada State Bar No. 002003 
TELETHA L. ZUPAN, ESQ. 
Nevada State Bar No. 012660 
610 South Ninth Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
(702) 386-0536; Fax (702) 386-6812 
Email: office@danielmarks.net 
Attorney for Defendants, Boulevard 
Furniture Inc., et al. 

MICHAEL AHDERS, an individual, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

Case No.: A-18-770121-C 
Dept. No.: XXX 

BOULEVARD FURNITURE, INC., a 
Nevada corporation; SHAFIK HIRJI, 
an individual; and SHAFIK 
BROWN, an individual. 

Defendants. 
/ 

Date of Hearing: 
Time of Hearing: 

DEFENDANTS' MOTION TO VACATE THE CONFESSION OF JUDGMENT PURSUANT TO 
NRS 17.090 THROUGH NRS 17.110; TO TAKE JUDICIAL NOTICE OF RELATED ACTIONS; 
ALTERNATIVE MOTION FOR STAY OF EXECUTION PURSUANT TO NRCP 62; AND/OR 
MOTION TO CONSOLIDATE WITH CASE NO. A-17-756274-C PURSUANT TO NRCP 42. 

COMES NOW the Defendants, Boulevard Furniture, Inc.; Shafik Hirji; and Shafik Brown by and 

through their counsel, Daniel Marks, Esq., and Teletha L. Zupan, Esq., of the Law Office of Daniel 

Marks, and hereby moves this Court to vacate the Confession of Judgment Entered on February 27. 2018 

pursuant to NRS 17.090 through NRS 17.110; to Take Judicial Notice of Related Actions; Alternative 

Motion for Stay of Execution pursuant to NRCP 62; and/or Motion to Consolidate with Case No. A-17-

1 

Electronically Filed
3/4/2018 2:22 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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1 

2 I. 

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

3 Shafik Hirji (hereafter "Hirji") is from Tanzania, which is in East Africa. Hirji was thirteen years 

4 old when he moved to the United States in 1971. He struggled in school because English was his second 

5 language. He ultimately dropped out of High School in New York at the beginning of his junior year. In 

6 2002, Hirji moved to Nevada. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached hereto as Exhibit "l "). 

7 Around September 2016, Hirji met Steven Barket (hereafter "Barket") at the Mercedes dealer. 

8 Barket purchased a sofa and other furniture from Furniture Fashions, which Hirji operated and his son, 

9 Shafik Brown (hereafter "Brown") owned. Hirji and Barket quickly became close friends. (See Affidavit 

1 O of Shafik Hirji attached hereto as Exhibit "l "). 

11 They met often on a casual basis to discuss their business operations over coffee or lunch. 

12 Barket told Hirji he owned and/or operated various lucrative business ventures. Barket told Hirji he was 

13 most passionate about his internet marketing business. In or around September/October 2016, Barket told 

14 Hirji that he finished a job for Sheldon Adelson, the owner of the Venetian Hotel & Casino, and was paid 

15 two hundred fifty thousand ($250,000.00) dollars; and worked with many other reputable businessmen on 

16 Wall Street, Washington D.C., and Florida. Barket claimed that he received stock, which is now worth 

17 millions of dollars and wanted to make investments with it. Around September 2016, Barket told Hirji 

18 that he had a net worth of approximately eighteen million ($18,000,000.00) dollars. (See Affidavit of 

19 Shafilc Hirji attached hereto as Exhibit "l"). 

20 During their casual meetings, Hirji discussed his experiences operating various businesses Brown 

21 owned. Hirji discussed Boulevard Furniture Inc. (hereafter "Boulevard"), which did business as Furniture 

22 Fashions. Furniture Fashions was a chain of furniture stores with two locations in Las Vegas, which 

23 Brown owned and Hirji operated. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached hereto as Exhibit "1 "). 

24 In October 2016, Barket asked Hirji if he could use extra money, explaining that he had money he 

25 wanted to invest with Furniture Fashions. Hirji believed they could use the extra money. (See Affidavit of 

26 Shafilc Hirji attached hereto as Exhibit "1 ").

27 I I II 

28 /III
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Hirji trusted Barket based on their friendship and Barket's representations that he owned and/or 

operated various lucrative business ventures. Between November 7, 2016 and January 20, 2017 Barket 

coordinated with Hirji to make a series of "investments" with Furniture Fashions, and other entities 

owned by Brown. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached hereto as Exhibit "1"). 

There is currently ongoing litigation between Barket, Hirji, Brown, Navneet Sharda (hereafter 

"Sharda"), and Furniture Boutique, LLC, in the Eighth Judicial Court, Case No. A-17-756274-C, before 

the honorable Judge Bailus in Department XVIII regarding the series of "investments"/loans that Barket 

orchestrated. Sharda is represented by Mr. Naddafi and the co-Defendants are represented by the 

undersigned counsel. The Defendants' Answer and Counterclaim specifically references and asserts 

counterclaims relating to the $100,000 loan/investment from Michael Ahders, but misspelled his last 

name as Anders. (See Answer to Amended Verified Complaint attached hereto as Exhibit "2" at p. 2 at ¶ 

23; p. 10 at It 65; p. 12 at IT 83C; p. 14 at Ilt 97 and 102; and p. 15 at IT 106). 

There are also other related actions that were filed in other departments regarding these loans. On 

November 1, 2017, a Confession of Judgment was entered on behalf of Cancer Care Foundation Inc. 

(hereafter "Cancer Care") and Brooklyn Asset Management, LLC (hereafter "BAM"), assignee, in Case 

No. A-17-763985-C in Department XXX before Judge Williams. That Confession of Judgment was 

derived from two of the "investments"/loans that Barket orchestrated, which are in issue in Case No. A-

17-756274-C. (See Cancer Care's Notice of Entry of Order for Confession of Judgment attached hereto as 

Exhibit "3"). Judge Williams set aside the Confession of Judgment finding that it was void because 

Cancer Care attempted to circumvent the issues and subject matter pertaining to the investments/loans in 

dispute in case A-17-756274-C to deprive the Defendants of adjudication of their rights and potential 

liabilities. (See February 5, 2018 Minute Order attached hereto as Exhibit "4"). 

Trata, Inc. (hereafter "Trata"), and BAM, assignee, filed another Confession of Judgment on 

November 1, 2017 in Case No. A-17-763995-C in Department VI before Judge Cadish, for two additional 

"investments"/ loans that were orchestrated by Barket and are in issue in Case No. A-17-756274-C. (See 

Trata's Confession of Judgment attached hereto as Exhibit "5"). There is currently an ongoing 

evidentiary hearing, which began on February 15, 2018 regarding that Confession of Judgment. 

/ / / / 
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Between November 7, 2016 and January 20, 2017, Barket coordinated the following series of 

"investments". In September 2016, Barket told Hirji he wanted to invest two hundred thousand 

($200,000.00) dollars, which would need to be structured as a loan from one of his businesses through his 

partner for tax purposes. Barket told Hirji that for tax reasons the loan repayment would need to be 

structured with an interest rate of fifty (50%) percent for twelve (12) months. Hirji agreed. Barket told 

Hirji to get Brown and go to the Law Office of Cohen-Johnson, LLC, on November 7, 2016, to execute a 

secured promissory note and security agreement on behalf of Boulevard for a loan from one of his 

businesses and to receive a check for two hundred thousand ($200,000.00) dollars. Brown and Hirji went 

to the law office and executed a confession of judgment, secured promissory note and security agreement 

for a loan from Cancer Care. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached hereto as Exhibit "1" and Cancer 

Care's first confession of judgment, secured promissory note and security agreement attached hereto as 

Exhibit "6"). 

In November 2016, shortly after the first loan, Barket approached Hirji and said he had another 

one hundred thousand ($100,000.00) dollars he wanted to invest with Furniture Fashions. Barket 

reiterated that the second investment would need to be structured as a loan from one of his businesses 

through his partner for tax purposes. Barket told Hirji that for tax reasons the loan repayment for the 

second loan would need to be structured with an interest rate of forty-eight (48%) percent for twelve (12) 

months. Hirji agreed. Barket told Hirji to get Brown and go to the Law Office of Cohen-Johnson, LLC, 

on November 21, 2016, to execute a secured promissory note and security agreement on behalf of 

Boulevard for the second loan from one of his businesses and to receive a check for one hundred 

thousand ($100,000.00) dollars. Brown and Hirji went to the law office and executed a confession of 

judgment, secured promissory note and security agreement for a loan from the Plaintiff, Michael Ahders. 

(See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached hereto as Exhibit "1" and Notice of Entry of Confession of 

Judgment for Ahders with confession of judgment, secured promissory note and security agreement 

attached hereto as Exhibit "7"). 

In December 2016, Barket informed Hirji that he wanted to make another "investment"/ loan. 

Hirji asked Barket if he wanted to invest three hundred thousand ($300,000.00) dollars and Barket said 

yes. Barket reiterated that for tax reasons, the three hundred thousand ($300,000.00) dollar investment 
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would have to be characterized as a loan and would have to go through one of his businesses and be 

handled by one of his partners. Hirji informed Barket that the loan/investment would have to be 

structured as a four (4) year loan with an interest rate of ten (10%) percent. Shortly before Brown and 

Hirji were to execute the confession of judgment, secured promissory note and security agreement for the 

loan, Barket informed Hirji that he had one hundred thousand ($100,000.00) dollars available at that time, 

but would have the other two hundred thousand ($200,000.00) dollars shortly thereafter and would amend 

the note and security agreement at that time. 

Barket told Hirji to get Brown and go to the Law Office of Cohen-Johnson, LLC, on December 

20, 2016 to execute a secured promissory note and security agreement on behalf of Boulevard for the 

third loan from one of his businesses and to receive a check for one hundred thousand ($100,000.00) 

dollars. Brown and Hirji went to the law office and executed a confession of judgment, secured 

promissory note and security agreement for a loan from Cancer Care. Barket did not provide the 

additional two hundred thousand ($200,000.00) dollars. (See Affidavit of Shaft Hirji attached hereto as 

Exhibit "1" and Cancer Care's second confession of judgment, secured promissory note and security 

agreement attached hereto as Exhibit "8"). 

Beginning in or around October/November 2016, Barket approached Hirji and suggested that they 

open a new furniture store with Brown that would be completely separate and independent from Furniture 

Fashions. Hirji told Barket that they would need one million ($1,000,000.00) dollars to open a new 

furniture store. They continued to have discussions regarding the furniture store until January 2017. 

During that time, Barket reiterated that for tax reasons, the million dollar deal would need to be 

structured as a loan through one of his businesses and would be handled by one of his partners. Barket 

told Hirji that for tax reasons the one million ($1,000,000.00) dollar loan repayment for the fourth loan 

would need to be structured with an interest rate of fifty (48%) percent for the first five payments, and 

then be refinanced by another one of his businesses to reduce the interest rate to ten (10%) percent for the 

remaining 43 months of the loan. I agreed. 

Barket told Hirji to get Brown and go to the Law Office of Cohen-Johnson, LLC, on January 20, 

2016, to execute a secured promissory note and security agreement on behalf of Boulevard for the fourth 

loan from one of his businesses and to receive a check for one million ($1,000,000.00) dollars. Brown 
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and Hirji went to the law office and executed a confession of judgment, secured promissory note and 

security agreement for a loan from Trata. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached hereto as Exhibit "1" 

and Trata's first confession of judgment, secured promissory note and security agreement attached hereto 

as Exhibit "9"). 

Between November 7, 2016 and March 4, 2017, Barket demanded and received a total of 

approximately three hundred seventy five thousand ($375,000.00) dollars from Hirji. Barket claimed he 

would return the money within a few weeks, but did not return any of the money. Instead, Barket 

demanded that Hirji pay him additional money. Hirji refused. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached 

hereto as Exhibit "1" and Checks to Barket attached hereto as Exhibit "10"). 

Barket got angry and threatened to harm Hirji physically and/or to harm Brown and Hirji's family 

financially, if they did not give him more money. Barket also threatened to do a website posting negative 

things about Hirji and his family, if Hirji refused to give Barket more money. (See Affidavit of Shafik 

Hirji attached hereto as Exhibit "1"). 

On or about March 5, 2017, Hirji contacted Sharda to inform him that Barket demanded and 

received approximately three hundred seventy five thousand ($375,000.00) dollars. Hirji informed Sharda 

that Barket demanded more money, which they did not have. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached 

hereto as Exhibit "1"). 

Sharda informed Hirji of Barket's misrepresentations. Specifically, Barket did not loan any money 

to them; Barket was not an agent of Cancer Care or Trata; Barket did not have an interest in Cancer Care 

or Trata; and Barket did not have the power to bind Cancer Care or Trata. Sharda infotmed Hirji further 

that Barket did not apply any of the money he received toward the outstanding loans for Cancer Care or 

Trata. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached hereto as Exhibit "1"). 

Sharda informed Hirji that he was an agent of Cancer Care and Trata, had the power to bind the 

businesses, and that Cancer Care and Trata loaned Hirji and Brown the all of the money. Hirji stopped 

communicating with Barket. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached hereto as Exhibit "1"). 

On March 18, 2017, Sharda agreed to loan Brown and Hirji an additional two hundred thousand 

($200,000) dollars to open the store and to suspend the repayment obligations on all loans as long as Hirji 

and Brown agreed to make Sharda a 50% owner/partner in the new furniture store. Hirji and Brown 
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1 agreed. Sharda drafted a confession of judgment, secured promissory note, and option agreement on 

2 behalf of Boulevard for the fifth loan from Trata for two hundred thousand ($200,000.00) dollars. (See 

3 Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached hereto as Exhibit "1" and Trata's second confession of judgment, 

4 secured promissory note and option agreement attached hereto as Exhibit "11"). 

5 Sharda suspended the repayment terms for all four loans until the store opened, became profitable 

6 enough to make the payments, and they reached an agreement for a new repayment schedule for all four 

7 loans. The loans from Trata were made for the purpose of opening a new furniture store. (See Affidavit of 

8 Shafik Hirji attached hereto as Exhibit "1"). 

9 On April 6, 2017, Barket obtained a judgment against Sharda by was of assignment in Case No. 

10 A-15-712697-C. (See Acknowledgment of Assignment of Judgment filed April 6, 2017 attached hereto 

11 as Exhibit "12"). Barket began executing on the Judgment against Sharda in approximately July 2017. 

12 There was subsequent motion practice in that action. Barket was represented by Mr. Mazur and Sharda 

13 was represented by Mr. Naddafi. The Defendants did not learn these facts until February 2018. 

14 Around August 15, 2017, Sharda began to pressure Hirji to execute a formal contract for the 

15 repayment schedule for all four loans. Sharda frequently told Hirji he was stressed out and under a lot of 

16 pressure from his family about these loans. Sharda said he was having a lot of conflict with his family 

17 because of these loans. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached hereto as Exhibit "1"). 

18 On August 29, 2017, Sharda sent Hirji an email advising Hirji that "the attorney" directed him to 

19 send Hirji a Notice of Default and a proposed Change in Terms Agreement (hereafter "the Agreement"), 

20 (See August 29, 2017 Email with attachments attached hereto as Exhibit "13"). Sharda courtesy copied 

21 the email to his attorney, Bryan Naddafi. The terms of the Agreement provided that it was between 

22 Cancer Care, Hirji, Brown, Boulevard, and multiple other unrelated parties and companies, which 

23 includes Sunset Furniture, Inc.; Furniture Boutique, LLC; Gizmo Empowered Inc.; 5550 Investments, 

24 Inc.; Genesis Investments, Inc.; Hatari Restaurant & Sports Bar, LLC; Fusion Restaurant, Inc.; and Hirji's 

25 daughter, Yasmin Brown. Sharda and Hirji had several conversations over the next two days. Sharda 

26 reiterated that he was having a lot of stress and conflict with his family because of the four loans he made 

27 to Hirji and Brown. Sharda told Hirji that Hirji could resolve the conflict between Sharda and his family 

28 by simply signing Change in Terms Agreements (hereafter "the Agreements") for Trata and Cancer Care. 
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1 On September 1, 2017. Sharda called Hirji and demanded for Hirji to appear at Bryan Naddafi's 

2 office that morning with Brown and his daughter, Yasmine Brown, to execute the Agreements. Hirji, 

3 Brown and Yasmine went to Mr. Naddafi's office later that morning and executed the Agreements. Mr. 

4 Nadaffi did not notify Hirji and Brown's counsel of the Agreements or advise Hirji and Brown to consult 

5 with their counsel before executing such agreements, even though the loans are the subject of the ongoing 

6 litigation in Case No. A-17-756274-C. (See Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached hereto as Exhibit "1"). 

7 Pursuant to the terms of the Agreements, Hirji and Brown were required to make three initial 

8 payments of $25,000.00 on September 25, 2017; October 25, 2017; and November 25, 2017. (See Exhibit 

9 "3" at 6 and Exhibit "5" at 3). 

10 Hirji and Brown made the first payment to Sharda on September 25, 2017. (See Affidavit of 

11 Shafik Hirji attached hereto as Exhibit "1"). On October 13, 2017, Sharda assigned all four loans to 

12 Brooklyn Asset Management, LLC (hereafter "BAM"). (See Acknowledgment of Assignment of 

13 Judgment attached hereto as Exhibit "14"). Sharda did not notify Hirji of the assignment at that time. 

14 On October 25, 2017, Hirji contacted Sharda to make the second payment, but Sharda refused to 

15 accept the payment and advised Hirji that all four loans were assigned to a hedge fund in New York. Hirji 

16 asked for the contact information for the company that the loans were assigned to. Sharda told Hirji that 

17 he would receive correspondence regarding the assignments shortly thereafter. (See Affidavit of Shafik 

18 Hirji attached hereto as Exhibit "1"). 

19 On or about October 28, 2017, Hirji and Brown received letters from BAM and Trata dated 

20 October 17, 2017, advising them that the loans from Trata and Cancer were assigned BAM. (See 

21 Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached hereto as Exhibit "1" and October 17, 2017 Correspondence attached 

22 hereto as Exhibit "15"). 

23 Hirji called BAM multiple times to get account numbers for the Cancer Care and Trata payments 

24 and to confirm the mailing address for the payments. On October 30, 2017, he finally reached a 

25 representative named Kim, who told him she had not heard of BAM, did not have any account numbers, 

26 and told him not to send payments to the address listed on the correspondence because they would not 

27 accept payments at that address. She said she would get back to Mr. Hirji with the requested information, 

28 but failed to do so. (See October 30, 2017 correspondence attached hereto as Exhibit "16"). 
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Shortly thereafter, Mr. Hirji received a call from Kay Sorrels, who identified herself as an agent of 

BAM. Ms. Sorrels said she would stop by the furniture store at 3500 S. Maryland Pkwy., Ste 171 on 

November 1, 2017 to pickup the payments. On November 1, 2017, Ms. Sorrels did not go to the furniture 

store. 

On November 2, 2017, Mr. Hirji mailed the payments to the BAM's address on the 

correspondence. Mr. Hirji also called Ms. Sorrels to see why she did not go to the store to pick up the 

payments on November 1, 2017. Ms. Sorrels advised Mr. Hirji that the matter had been assigned to 

Michael Mazur and told Mr. Hirji he could contact Mr. Mazur. (See November 2, 2017 correspondence 

attached hereto as Exhibit "17"). Mr. Hirji contacted Mr. Mazur's office and was informed that the 

Confessions of Judgment had been filed. Mr. Hirji told Brown to stop payment on the checks. (See 

Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached hereto as Exhibit "1"). 

Even though neither Confession of Judgment was reduced to Judgment by the Clerk of the Court, 

on or about November 22, 2017 and November 27, 2017, Trata and Cancer Care executed on the 

Defendants' bank accounts and issued writs of garnishments directed to the various business entities and 

Defendants. In the morning on December 22, 2017, the Laughlin Constable, Steven Barket, and Michael 

Mazur appeared at Mr. Hirji's residence and executed on a Writ of Execution and seize various items, 

including vehicles, electronics, and various other personal property. Mr. Barket videotaped while the 

Constable executed on the writ. Mr. Barket laughed as he told Mr. Hirji that he owns Brooklyn Asset 

Management, LLC. (See photos taken during December 22, 2017 execution with publication from Steve 

Barket on his website shafikhirji.com attached hereto as Exhibit "18"). 

In February 2018, Mr. Hirji learned that the Judgment against Sharda in A-15-712697-C was 

assigned to Barket on April 6, 2017. Michael Mazur represented Barket in that matter. Sharda was 

represented by Mr. Naddafi. Mr. Mazur also represents Sharda, Cancer Care, Trata, and BAM, in 

connection with the Confessions of Judgment that were filed in Case No. A-17-763985-C, Case No. A-

17-763995-C. Mr. Hirji also learned that BAM was domestic Nevada limited liability company and that 

the November payments to BAM were mailed back to Las Vegas to Mr. Mazur's office for deposit. (See 

Certified Records from Nevada Secretary of State for Brooklyn Asset Management, LLC attached hereto 

as Exhibit "19" and Account Transaction Details with Checks attached hereto as Exhibit "20"). In light 
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of the fact that the assignment required payments to be made to New York only to be mailed back to 

Nevada for deposit, the assignment was clearly a sham that was designed to cause a default. Even if the 

Defendants had not stopped payment on the checks, they most likely would have been applied solely to 

Cancer Care to cause a default on Trata. 

The Defendants made payments to Mr. Ahders from January 5, 2017 through December 2017. 

The Defendants did not receive a written notice of default from Mr. Ahders. They were not provided an 

opportunity to cure. The Plaintiff did not offer to amend the terms, extend the repayment terms, and/or to 

reduce the principal amount due based on the $375,000 that Barket demanded and received. (See 

Affidavit of Shafik Hirji attached hereto as Exhibit "1"). Mr. Ahders' Confession of Judgment does not 

provide a specific sum that is due or account for the principal and interest installment payments that were 

made from January 5, 2017 through December 2017. Mr. Mazur represents Michael Ahders in connection 

with the Confessions of Judgment that was entered in this matter on February 27, 2018. Based on 

previous experiences in the Trata and Cancer Care matters, the Defendants believe that Mr. Ahders' 

counsel will commence execution proceedings without waiting for a Judgment to be entered by the Clerk 

of the Court and respectfully request immediate relief. 

II. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

A. THIS COURT SHOULD VACATE THE JUDGMENT BECAUSE IT IS 
UNENFORCEABLE PURSUANT TO NRS 17.090 THROUGH NRS 17.110 

In Nevada and as a matter of law, confessions of judgment are disfavored and viewed 

circumspectly. See Coast to Coast Demolition and Crushing, Inc. v. Realty Equity Pursuit, LLC, 126 

Nev. 97, 104, 226 P.3d 605, 609 (2010)(citing 46 Am.Jur.2d Judgments § 206 (2006)). NRS 17.090 

through NRS 17.110 provides the procedure for confessions of judgment. NRS 17.090 through NRS 

17.110 imposes requirements that must be met for a judgment by confession to be entered without further 

action. 

/ / / / 

/ / / / 
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NRS 17.090 states: 

Judgment by confession for debt due or contingent liability. Except as otherwise provided 
by law, a judgment by confession may be entered without action, either for money due 
or to become due or to secure any person against contingent liability on behalf of the 
defendant, or both, in the manner prescribed by this section and NRS 17.100 and 17.110. 

NRS 17.100 provides: 

Written statement made by defendant; form. A statement in writing shall be made, signed 
by the defendant and verified by his or her oath, to the following effect: 

1. It shall authorize the entry of judgment for a specified sum. 

2. If it be money due, or to become due, it shall state concisely the facts out of 
which it arose, and shall show that the sum confessed therefor is justly due, or 
to become due. 

3. If it be for the purpose of securing the plaintiff against a contingent liability, it shall 
state concisely the facts constituting the liability, and shall show that the sum 
confessed therefor does not exceed the same. 

NRS 17.110 states: 

Filing of statement; endorsement by clerk; entry of judgment; judgment roll; costs. The 
statement must be filed with the clerk of the court in which the judgment is to be entered. 
The clerk shall endorse upon it and enter in the judgment book a judgment of the 
court for the amount confessed, with $28 costs. The judgment and affidavit, with the 
judgment endorsed, thereupon become the judgment roll. 

This Confession of Judgment is not enforceable because it does not authorize the entry of 

judgment for a specific sum. It does not show the specific sum that is due or account for the monthly 

principal and interest installment payments that Defendants made from January 5, 2017 through 

December 2017. There is no loan amortization schedule. (See Exhibit "7"). Therefore, the Confession of 

Judgment should be vacated and set aside pursuant to NRS 17.100 and NRS 17.110 because it does not 

authorize the entry of judgment for a specified sum. 

In addition, the express terms of the Confession of Judgment provide on page 2 in paragraph 4, 

"Plaintiff shall provide written notice of said default to the Defendants. The Defendant shall have five (5) 

calendar days to cure said default. If the default is not cured in full the Plaintiff may file and record this 
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Confession of Judgment and take all steps to protect the rights of the Plaintiff hereunder." Mr. Ahders did 

not provide the required written notice to the Defendants or an opportunity to cure. (See Exhibit "7"). 

Therefore, Mr. Ahders violated the express terms of the Confession of Judgment by failing to give the 

Defendants the required notice and opportunity to cure and it should be vacated and set aside. 

B. THIS COURT SHOULD TAKE JUDICIAL NOTICE OF THE RELATED 
ACTIONS PURSUANT TO NRS 47.130 

This Court should take judicial notice of facts in issue, which are referenced in other related cases 

in the Eighth Judicial District Court. First, There is currently ongoing litigation between Barket, Hirji, 

Brown, Navneet Sharda (hereafter "Sharda"), and Furniture Boutique, LLC, in the Eighth Judicial Court, 

Case No. A-17-756274-C, before the honorable Judge Bailus in Department XVIII regarding the series 

of "investments"/loans between Barket, Sharda, Hirji, and/or Brown. The Defendants' Answer and 

Counterclaim specifically reference and asserts counterclaims relating to the $100,000 loan/investment 

from Michael Ahders, but misspelled his last name as Anders. (See Exhibit "2" at p. 2 at ¶ 23; p. 10 at ¶ 

65; p. 12 at It 83C; p. 14 at 111[[ 97 and 102; and p. 15 at ¶ 106). 

There are also other related actions that were filed. A Judgment was entered against Sharda in A-

15-712697-C, which was assigned to Barket on April 6, 2017. (See Exhibit "12"). Michael Mazur 

represented Barket in that matter. In November 2017, Mr. Mazur was retained to represents Sharda, 

Cancer Care, Trata, and BAM, assignee, in connection with the Confessions of Judgment that were filed 

in Case No. A-17-763985-C, Case No. A-17-763995-C. (See Exhibits "3", "5", "14", and "20"). 

On November 1, 2017, a Confession of Judgment was entered on behalf of Cancer Care in Case 

No. A-17-763985-C in Department XXX before Judge Williams. (See Exhibit "3"). While Mr. Mazur 

claimed that the Confession of Judgment was assigned to BAM, no assignment was filed and the 

Confession of Judgment was in the name of Cancer Care. That Confession of Judgment was derived from 

two of the "investments"/loans that Barket orchestrated, which are in issue in Case No. A-17-756274-C. 

Judge Williams set aside the Confession of Judgment finding that it was void because Cancer Care 

attempted to circumvent the issues and subject matter pertaining to the investments/loans in dispute in 

case A-17-756274-C to deprive the Defendants of adjudication of their rights and potential liabilities. 

(See February 5, 2018 Minute Order attached hereto as Exhibit "3"). 
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Trata, Inc., filed another Confession of Judgment on November 1, 2017 in Case No. A-17-

763995-C in Department VI before Judge Cadish, for two additional "investments"/ loans that were 

orchestrated by Barket and are in issue in Case No. A-17-756274-C. (See Exhibit "5"). While Mr. Mazur 

claimed that the Confession of Judgment was assigned to BAM, no assignment was filed until February 

16, 2018. (See Exhibit "14"). However, the Confession of Judgment was filed in the name of Trata. (See 

Exhibit "5"). There is currently an ongoing evidentiary hearing, which began on February 15, 2018 

regarding that Confession of Judgment. 

Mr. Mazur is representing Mr. Ahders in connection with the Confessions of Judgment that was 

entered in this matter on February 27, 2018. (See Exhibit "7"). This "investment"/ loan was part of the 

series, which were orchestrated by Barket and are in issue in Case No. A-17-756274-C. Further, 

Defendants believe that the Plaintiff previously relinquished any and all rights he had with respect to the 

Confession of Judgment by assigning such rights to Barket, Sharda, and/or their assigns even though no 

formal assignment has been filed. 

C. THIS COURT SHOULD STAY EXECUTION PURSUANT TO NRCP 62 

This Court has discretion pursuant to NRCP 62(b) to stay execution of any proceedings to enforce 

a judgment pending a motion for relief from judgment. Alternatively, this Court should issue a stay of any 

and all actions directed at executing on this Confession of Judgment based on the facts of this case and 

the related actions. 

D. THIS CASE SHOULD BE CONSOLIDATED WITH CASE NO. A-17-756274-C 

This case falls under NRCP 42(a): 

(a) Consolidation. When actions involving a common question of law or fact are pending 
before the court, it may order a joint hearing or trial of any or all the matters in issue in the 
actions; it may order all the actions consolidated; and it may make such orders concerning 
proceedings therein as may tend to avoid unnecessary costs or delay. 

(b) Separate Trial. The Court, in furtherance of convenience or to avoid prejudice, or when 
separate trails will be conducive to expedition and economy, may order a separate trial of any 
claim, cross-claim, counterclaim, or third-party claim, or of any separate issue or of any 
number of claims, cross-claims, counterclaims, third-party claims, or issues, always 
preserving inviolate the right of trial by jury. 
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This case should be consolidated with the initial case pending before Judge Bailus in Case No. A-

17-756274-C. Common questions of law and fact exist in both cases. Failure to consolidate the cases 

will result in the need for double discovery to take place, duplicative litigation, the waste of judicial 

resources, unnecessary additional attorneys' fees being expended by Defendants, potential inconsistent 

rulings and/or judgments, and provides the potential for a double recovery. Especially, if Mr. Ahders is 

permitted to recover in this action and the $375,000 Barket received may be apportioned among all of the 

loans or applied solely to the smaller loans for equitable reasons. Due to the fact that common questions 

of law and fact exist in both cases they should be consolidated under NRCP 42(a). 

III. CONCLUSION 

Based upon the foregoing, this Court should vacate and set aside the Confession of Judgment that 

was entered on February 27. 2018 pursuant to NRS 17.090 through NRS 17.110. In addition, this Court 

should take judicial notice of the related actions and consolidate this case with Case No. A-17-756274-C 

pursuant to NRCP 42. Alternatively this Court should issue a Stay of Execution pursuant to NRCP 62(b) 

to preclude the Plaintiff from taking any action(s) to execute on this Confession of Judgment. 

DATED this day of March, 2018. 

LAW OFFICE F DANIEL MARKS 

DANIEL 'MARKS, ESQ. 
Nevada State Bar No. 002003 
TELETHA ZUPAN, ESQ. 
Nevada State Bar No. 012660 
610 South Ninth Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Attorneys for Defendants 
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MOT 
LAW OFFICE OF DANIEL MARKS 
DANIEL MARKS, ESQ. 
Nevada State Bar No. 002003 
TELETHA L. ZUPAN, ESQ. 
Nevada State Bar No. 012660 
610 South Ninth Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
(702) 386-0536; Fax (702) 386-6812 
Email: office@danielmarks.net 
Attorney for Defendants, Boulevard 
Furniture Inc., et al. 

MICHAEL AHDERS, an individual, 

Plaintiff, 
vs. 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

Case No.: A-19-806944-C 
Dept. No.: I 

BOULEVARD FURNITURE, INC., a 
Nevada corporation; SHAFIK HIRJI, 
an individual; and SHAFIK 
BROWN, an individual. 

Defendants. 

Hearing Requested 

Date of Hearing: 
Time of Hearing: 

DEFENDANTS' EMERGENCY MOTION TO VACATE CONFESSION OF JUDGMENT 
PURSUANT TO NRCP 60(b): TO QUASH ANY AND ALL WRITS OF EXECUTION AND/OR 

GARNISHMENT PURSUANT TO NRCP 60(b) BECAUSE THE JUDGMENT WAS OBTAINED 
BY FRAUD; TO STAY ALL COLLECTION ACTIVITY, INCLUDING WRITS OF 

EXECUTION; FOR ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS; 
AND TO DISMISS THIS ACTION WITH PREJUDICE. 

COMES NOW the Defendants, Boulevard Furniture, Inc.; Shafik Hirji; and Shafik Brown by and 

through their counsel, Daniel Marks, Esq., and Teletha L. Zupan, Esq., of the Law Office of Daniel 

Marks, and hereby submits their Emergency Motion to Vacate the Confession of Judgment Entered on 

January 13, 2020 pursuant to NRCP 60(b); to Quash Any and All Writs of Execution And/or 

//// 

1 

Case Number: A-19-806944-C

Electronically Filed
1/14/2020 2:45 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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Garnishment Pursuant to NRCP 60(b) Because the Judgment Was Obtained by Fraud; to Stay All 

Collection Activity, Including Writs of Execution; For Attorney's Fees and Costs; and to Dismiss this 

Action with Prejudice. The grounds for Defendants' Motion are set forth in the following Memorandum 

of Points and Authorities. 

DATED this /V  day of January, 2020. 

LAW i FFICE OF DANIEL MARKS 

D A KIEL MARKS, ESQ. 
evada State Bar No. 002003 

TELETHA ZUPAN, ESQ. 
Nevada State Bar No. 012660 
610 South Ninth Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Attorneys for Defendants 

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Between November 7, 2016 and January 20, 2017, Steven Barket (hereafter "Barket") coordinated 

a series of approximately five "investments"/loans between the Defendants and his agents/partners. 

Plaintiff, Mr. Ahders' investment/ loan was the second in the series. Various litigation ensued in 

different departments regarding these investments/loans and the corresponding confessions of judgment. 

Defendants were successful in getting the various confessions of judgment set aside, including Mr. 

Ahders confession of judgment, which Judge Early held to be void pursuant to NRCP 60(b) in Eighth 

Judicial District Court Case No.: A-18-770121-C. (Ahders' Notice of Entry of Order for Confession of 

Judgment attached hereto as Exhibit "1"; Cancer Care's Notice of Entry of Order for Confession of 

Judgment attached hereto as Exhibit "2"; and Trata's Notice of Entry of Order for Confession of 

Judgment attached hereto as Exhibit "3"). Judge Early consolidated the Ahders action with the Barket 

action in the Eighth Judicial Court, Case No. A-17-756274-C because Ahders' partner, Barket, demanded 
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and received a total of approximately three hundred seventy five thousand ($375,000.00) dollars from 

Hirji. (Exhibit "1" and Exhibit "4"). 

On January 13, 2020, Defendants were served with the Confession of Judgment for this action, 

despite the fact that Judge Early held that it was void. On January 14, 2020, the Defendants were served 

with Writs of Execution. (See Writ of Execution for Shafik Hirji attached hereto as Exhibit "5", Writ of 

Execution for Shafik Brown attached hereto as Exhibit "6", and Writ of Execution for Boulevard 

Furniture Inc., attached hereto as Exhibit "7"). 

Counsel emailed Ahders' counsel, Charles Barnabi, Esq., immediately after being served with the 

Defendants' Writs of Execution to demand that he cease and desist form taking further action based on 

the void confession of judgment. Counsel advised Ahders' counsel that they would file emergency 

motions and seek fees if he did not agree to dismiss the action with prejudice. Mr. Barnabi declined to do 

so stating that Mr. Ahders would pursue the underlying note. Mr. Barnabi advised that he may not be able 

to respond promptly because has depositions for the next three days. (See email stream attached hereto as 

Exhibit "8" and Affidavit of Teletha Zupan, Esq. attached hereto as Exhibit "9"). 

II. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

A party may be relieved from a final judgment or order, upon such terms as are just, based on 

intrinsic or extrinsic fraud, misrepresentation or other misconduct of an adverse party. NRCP 60(b)(1-3). 

A motion to relieve a party from a final judgment or order for the above reasons must be filed within six 

(6) months of the notice of entry of the final judgment or order from which relief is sought. NRCP 60(b). 

A party may file a motion under NRCP 60(b) because there is a "strong policy favoring resolution of 

disputes on their merits" in Nevada. Yochum v. Davis, 98 Nev. 484, 487, 653 P.2d 1215, 1217 (1982). 

This is because "the salutary purpose of Rule 60(b) is to redress any injustices that may have resulted 

because of excusable neglect or the wrongs of an opposing party." Carlson v. Carlson, 108 Nev. 358, 
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361-62, 832 P.2d 380 (1992). As such, Rule 60 must "be liberally construed to effectuate that purpose", 

so cases can be decided on the merits. Id. at 362. 

A. PLAINTIFF AND HIS COUNSEL COMMITTED FRAUD ON THE COURT 

The court has the inherent authority to relieve a party from a judgment or set aside a judgment for 

fraud upon the court. See NRCP 60(b) and Murphy v. Murphy, 103 Nev. 185, 734 P.2d 738 (1987)(a 

divorce action where a husband threatened to kill his wife if she sought any further property to receive a 

property distribution awarding him the entirety of the parties' community property). The Nevada Supreme 

Court has found fraud on the court in cases where there is "egregious misconduct", such as bribery of a 

judge or members of the jury, or the fabrication of evidence by a party in which an attorney is implicated. 

See Occhiuto v. Occhiuto, 97 Nev. 143, 146 n. 2, 625 P.2d 568, 570 n. 2 (1981). In such cases, the court 

reviews the improper actions to determine whether the actions are those of the parties alone or if the 

attorneys in the case are involved. See NC-DSH Inc. v. Garner, 125 Nev. at 655, 218 P.3d at 859. 

In 2009, the Nevada Supreme Court adopted the most widely accepted definition of "fraud on the 

court" that, "embrace(s) only that species of fraud which does, or attempts to, subvert the integrity of the 

court itself, or is a fraud perpetrated by officers of the court so that the judicial machinery cannot perform 

the task in the usual manner its impartial task of adjudging cases . . . and relief should be denied in the 

absence of such conduct. See NC-DSH Inc. v. Garner, 125 Nev. 647, 654, 218 P.3d 853, 858 (2009). A 

fraud on the court occurs in situations where due to fraud, a party is kept away from court and deprived of 

a real trial on the issues. See NC-DSH Inc. v. Garner, 125 Nev. at 654-655, 218 P.3d at 859. 

In Garner, the court vacated a stipulated judgment finding that Garner's counsel, Davidson, 

committed "fraud on the court" when he settled the family's wrongful death case for $160,000; forged the 

necessary settlement papers; submitted a stipulated judgment for dismissal with prejudice that was 

approved and entered forever concluding the family's claims; and disappeared with the money. See NC-
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DSH Inc. v. Garner, 125 Nev. at 649, 218 P.3d at 855. In Garner, the court found that an attorney is an 

officer of the court, who owes duties to his clients and a duty of loyalty to the court. That duty of loyalty 

demands integrity and honesty in all dealing with the court. Any conduct taken in a case that departs from 

this standard serves to perpetrate a fraud on the court. See NC-DSH Inc. v. Garner, 125 Nev. at 655, 218 

P.3d at 859. 

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that there is a sufficient basis for equitable relief from a 

judgment where extrinsic fraud is used to keep one party away from the court by conduct preventing a 

real trail on the issues. See Libro v. Walls, 103 Nev. 540, 542-543 746 P.2d 632, 634 (1987)(where a wife 

sought to impose a child support obligation on her husband in their divorce, but failed to disclose that he 

may not be the child's father). The court recognized that in some cases, the fraud may be so successful 

that the other party does not realize he has a claim or defense and reasonable opportunity to present it. 

The court has found the fraud may be in the form of a false promise of compromise, or such 

conduct that prevents a real trial on the issues, or any other act or omission which procures the absence of 

the unsuccessful party at the trial. See Savage v. Saizmann, 88 Nev. 193, 195, 495 P.2d 367, 368 

(1972)(where the parties entered into an oral agreement that should have precluded the default judgment); 

Cook v. Cook,112 Nev. 179, 182,184-185, 912 P.2d 264 (1996)(where the Court vacated a Decree of 

Divorce under NRCP 60(b) where the wife did not have legal counsel and was not advised to seek 

independent legal counsel before she signed "legal documents central to the divorce action" giving up her 

legal right to a portion of the husband's law practice.. 

This is the fourth time that Barket's agents/partners have engaged in a scheme to take Defendants' 

money and/or assets while depriving the Defendants of a real trail on the issues and unnecessarily 

increasing the Defendants' litigation costs. (See Exhibits "1-3"). This instance is more egregious because 

Ahders is represented by Mr. Barnabi in this action. Ahders and Mr. Barnabi are involved in the ongoing 
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consolidated Barket action. Ahders is a party to the consolidated action and is represented by Michael 

Mazur. Mr. Barnabi represents Mr. Barket and G65 Ventures, LLC, in the consolidated Barket action. 

(See Register of Actions for Case No. A-18-770121-C attached hereto as Exhibit "10" and Register of 

Actions for Case No. A-17-756274-C attached hereto as Exhibit "11"). 

In addition, Mr. Barnabi concedes in his email that Judge Earley held that Ahders' confession of 

judgment was void pursuant to 60(b). (See Exhibit "8"). To the extent that he may attempt to argue that 

he filed the action to pursue the underlying notes, that argument also fails by virtue of their conduct. 

Judge Early retained jurisdiction over such matters in the consolidate Barket action, which Ahders has not 

taken any action in. (See Exhibits "10" and "11"). In addition, Ahders did not file a complaint and assert 

any cause of action based on the underlying note. Instead, he filed the void confession of judgment, set 

judgment debtors exams, and prepared and served writs of execution on the void confession of judgment. 

(See Exhibits "5", "6", and "7"). 

Mr. Barnabi and Ahders knew that Ahders claims were consolidated with the Barket action 

because Barket demanded and received a total of approximately $375,000 from the Defendants. (See 

Exhibits "1", Exhibit "4", Exhibit "8", Exhibit "10", and Exhibit "11"). Ahders and Mr. Barnabi 

committed fraud on this Court pursuant to NRCP 60(b)(1-3) by filing the void confession of judgment in 

this action without any legal basis to do so to deprive the Defendants of a real trail on the issues, while 

unlawfully taking more of their money and assets, and unnecessarily increasing the Defendants' litigation 

costs. Therefore, this Court must set aside the void confession of judgment entered on January 13, 2020 

pursuant to NRCP 60(b). 

Based upon the foregoing, this Court should quash any and all writs of execution and/or 

garnishment pursuant to NRCP 60(b) because the judgment was obtained by fraud. In addition, 

Defendants request for this Court to stay all collection activity. Moreover, because Ahders did not have a 
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legal basis to re-file the void confession of judgment, Defendants request an award of attorney's fees and 

costs pursuant to NRCP 37. The Defendant also request for this Court to dismiss this action with 

prejudice because Judge Earley retained jurisdiction over Ahders' claims. 

III. CONCLUSION 

Based upon the foregoing, this Court should grant Defendants' emergency motion to vacate the 

void confession of judgment that was entered on January 13, 2020 and quash any and all writs of 

execution and/or garnishment pursuant to NRCP 60(b) because the judgment was obtained by fraud. In 

addition, this Court should stay all collection activity and award Defendants attorney's fees and costs for 

having to defend this frivolous action pursuant to NRCP 37. This Court should dismiss this action with 

prejudice because Judge Early retained jurisdiction over Ahders' claims. 

DATED this( clay of January, 2020. 

LA • FFICE OF DANIEL MARKS 

D EL MARKS, ESQ. 
Nevada State Bar No. 002003 
TELETHA ZUPAN, ESQ. 
Nevada State Bar No. 012660 
610 South Ninth Street 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 
Attorneys for Defendants 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that I am an employee of the Law Office of Daniel Marks and that on the /  day 

of January, 2020, pursuant to NRCP 5(b) and Administrative Order 14-2, I electronically transmitted a 

true and correct copy of the above and foregoing DEFENDANTS' EMERGENCY MOTION TO 

VACATE CONFESSION OF JUDGMENT PURSUANT TO NRCP 60(b): TO QUASH ANY AND 

ALL WRITS OF EXECUTION AND/OR GARNISHMENT PURSUANT TO NRCP 60(b) 

BECAUSE THE JUDGMENT WAS OBTAINED BY FRAUD; TO STAY ALL COLLECTION 

ACTIVITY, INCLUDING WRITS OF EXECUTION; FOR ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS; 

AND TO DISMISS THIS ACTION WITH PREJUDICE, by way of Notice of Electronic Filing 

provided by the court mandated E-file to the following address: 

Charles Barnabi, Esq., 
375 E. Warm Springs Road, Ste. 104 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 
Attorney for Plaintiff, 
Michael Ahders 

An employs of the Law Office Daniel Marks 
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